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Barclays Capital Inc., Barclays Group US Inc., Barclays US LLC, Barclays Bank PLC, 

Barclays PLC, BCAP LLC, Securitized Asset Backed Receivables LLC, and Sutton Funding LLC 

(collectively, "Barclays") respectfully submit this memorandum of law in support of their motion 

to dismiss the amended complaint with prejudice under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2) 

and 12(b)(6). 1 

INTRODUCTION 

The government brings this case for civil penalties under the Financial Institutions Reform, 

Recovery, and Enforcement Act (FIRREA), contending that Barclays committed a variety of pred

icate offenses (principally mail, wire, and bank fraud) a decade ago in connection with its sale of 

residential mortgage-backed securities in 36 securitizations. The government's sprawling com

plaint advances a breathtakingly expansive (and incorrect) view of the reach of federal law. Con

gress enacted FIRREA to protect financial institutions in the wake of the savings and loan crisis. It 

authorizes the government to seek monetary penalties only for specified offenses, including mail 

and wire fraud that affects a federally insured financial institution. Barclays indisputably is not a 

federally insured financial institution, and FIRREA is not an all-purpose fraud statute. Yet that is 

precisely how the government is trying to use it here. The government seeks to exploit FIRREA's 

generous ten-year limitations period to repackage otherwise time-barred, garden-variety securities

fraud claims as banking crimes. The Court should not countenance this radical transformation of 

FIRREA. 

Even if FIRREA were available, the government's concessions in its complaint rebut the 

existence of criminal fraud. Although the government asserts that Barclays securitized defective 

1 Barclays served its motion to dismiss the original complaint on April 7, 2017. On May 11, 
2017, the government filed an amended complaint. Unless otherwise specified, all references to 
"complaint" in this motion are to the amended complaint. 

1 
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mortgage loans, it admits critical facts that undermine its characterization of Barclays' conduct as 

fraudulent and render its complaint insufficient as a matter of law-namely, that Barclays (1) re

tained the riskiest securities in most of the securitizations, which meant that Barclays would be the 

first investor to suffer losses if the underlying loans defaulted; (2) declined to securitize a signifi

cant majority of loans flagged for review by its due-diligence vendors; and (3) issued offering 

documents that made robust disclosures to the sophisticated purchasers about the risks of investing 

in securities backed by subprime and other non-prime loans. A long complaint is not a substitute 

for a good one, and the government's inability to plead fraud mandates dismissal. 

The Court offered the government the chance to amend its complaint at the pre-filing con

ference. The government elected not to do so then. Instead, it waited until Barclays filed its 

motion to dismiss, so as to have the advantage of seeing Barclays' arguments "more fleshed out" 

before amending. Hr'g Tr. 6:1-8 (Apr. 6, 2017). Even with the benefit of Barclays' motion, how

ever, the amended complaint makes clear that the government has no response to the fundamental 

flaws in its theory of FIRREA liability and its predicate fraud claims. The amended complaint 

merely corrects a number of mistakes that Barclays highlighted in its motion. It also attempts 

(half-heartedly and unsuccessfully) to respond to Barclays' arguments about the absence of alle

gations, or any predicate for personal jurisdiction, regarding certain of the Barclays defendants. In 

all other respects, however, the amended complaint is merely a carbon copy of the original. 

The Court should dismiss the amended complaint for four principal reasons. 

First, the complaint cannot and does not plead that the predicate fraud offenses had the 

requisite nexus to a financial institution to invoke FIRREA's penalty provision. An ordinary claim 

of securities fraud is neither bank fraud, nor mail or wire fraud affecting a federally insured finan

cial institution, merely because a bank is among the many investors in a broad offering or played 

2 
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the role banks ordinarily occupy in securities transactions. Virtually every securities offering in

cludes some involvement by a financial institution, so this complaint would arrogate to the De

partment of Justice civil-enforcement authority (with an extended limitations period) over securi

ties offerings that always has been the exclusive province of the Securities and Exchange Com

mission. The complaint merely alleges in general terms that financial institutions (largely uniden

tified) were purchasers or participants in the 36 transactions at issue. Those vague allegations 

come nowhere close to establishing that a federally insured financial institution actually was af

fected by mail or wire fraud in each of the 36 securitizations or that a financial institution was the 

target of a bank fraud associated with each one. 

Second, the complaint does not sufficiently plead any of the basic elements of fraud for the 

underlying alleged predicate offenses-(1) a fraudulent scheme, (2) intent, (3) falsity, and (4) ma

teriality. As to a scheme: in an effort to obscure the paucity of its allegations as to many of the 

36 securitizations, the complaint purports to combine all 36 into a single overarching 

"scheme." But the complaint's allegations in no way support the existence of a single Barclays

wide "scheme." To the contrary, the complaint acknowledges that three distinct Barclays business 

units, staffed by different employees and using different procedures, handled the securitizations. 

Beneath those deficient scheme allegations, the complaint does not come close to pleading 

fraud for each of the 36 securitizations. 

As to intent: the government's allegations are predicated almost entirely on excerpts of 

communications by two Barclays employees, defendants Paul Menefee and John Carroll, but they 

worked in only one of the three business units and worked on only a subset of the 36 securitiza

tions. The complaint contains no specific allegations about Mr. Menefee and Mr. Carroll with 

respect to most of the transactions in question. Nor does it identify, even in broad strokes, any 

3 
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other Barclays employee alleged to harbor fraudulent intent. 

As to falsity and materiality: the government lists hundreds of alleged representations in 

appendices without explaining why, or even whether, they are false. The allegations in the body 

of the complaint fare no better. Critically, the government's principal allegation of falsity-that 

the due-diligence grades assigned by Barclays' vendors show that Barclays securitized loans that 

did not comply with underwriting guidelines-is fatally undermined by the government's conces

sion that those grades did not necessarily signify that a loan failed to comply with the guidelines. 

In addition, the complaint demonstrates that, for many of the securitizations, the number of alleg

edly faulty loans is miniscule and plainly immaterial. The government's amendments to the com

plaint-which simply substitute the word "misrepresentations" for the word "representations" in 

a number of places-do nothing to cure these critical pleading errors. 

Third, the government also overreaches and fails adequately to allege two other FIRREA 

predicate offenses: participating in fraudulent bank transactions, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1005, 

and making false statements to banks, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014. Section 1005 is limited to 

bank insiders and does not apply to Barclays. Section 1014 punishes false statements in the context 

of bank lending and credit activities, not securities investments. And even if these statutes could 

apply, the complaint does not specify the relevant financial institutions and transactions. 

Fourth, the complaint names Barclays Group US Inc., Barclays US LLC, and Barclays 

PLC as defendants, but its barebones allegations about their relationship to the other defendants 

do not state a claim against them. In addition, Barclays PLC is not subject to personal jurisdiction 

in the United States. 

Where the government perceives fraud in a securities offering, ample remedies exist in 

federal law. The SEC may seek civil penalties, disgorgement, and injunctive relief. FIRREA's 
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civil-penalties provision is not a substitute; it is a banking measure. Whatever the remedy, any 

complaint charging fraud-especially a criminal "scheme" to defraud, as is alleged in this case

must be supported by particularized allegations, not conclusory or contradictory assertions. The 

complaint should be dismissed. 

BACKGROUND 

This background section is based upon the allegations set forth in the amended complaint 

(including its tables), which are assumed to be true only for purposes of this motion. 

A. Barclays' Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities Businesses 

This lawsuit arises from Barclays' sale of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) 

in 36 securitizations between 2005 and 2007. (, 1.) As the name indicates, a residential mortgage

backed security is a debt instrument backed by residential mortgage loans. The 36 securitizations 

here were backed by subprime mortgages or Alt-A mortgages. (Table 1.) Subprime mortgages 

are loans to borrowers with poor credit history, who have a greater-than-average risk of defaulting; 

Alt-A mortgages are loans to borrowers whose credit is generally within the guidelines for prime 

lending but who are unwilling or unable to provide full documentation for a prime mortgage. 

Barclays played different roles in the 36 securitizations. Twenty-nine of the 36 securitiza

tions were "principal" deals, in which Barclays purchased pools of loans from mortgage origina

tors; transferred them to a trust; and used its own shelf registration to issue, underwrite, and sell 

"certificates" backed by the loans in the trust. (,, 55-57.) The remaining seven were "third-party" 

( or "agented") securitizations, in which Barclays served as lead or sole underwriter for the secu

ritization, but did not serve as issuer. (, 70.) 

Of particular relevance, the 36 securitizations were handled by three different units within 

Barclays. The Asset Securitization Group, which the government alleges was run by Mr. Menefee 

and Mr. Carroll, was responsible for the "principal" deals backed by subprime mortgages (22 of 
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the 36 securitizations); the RMBS Securitization Group was responsible for the "principal" deals 

backed by Alt-A mortgages (seven of the 36 securitizations); and the Home Equity Financing 

Group was responsible for the "third-party" deals (seven of the 36 securitizations). (,, 64, 67, 73; 

Table 1.) Those groups were staffed by different Barclays employees; purchased loans from dif

ferent mortgage originators; used different due-diligence vendors; and had different due-diligence 

procedures. (, 68.) Notably, the complaint does not name as a defendant or even identify any 

Barclays employee from the RMBS Securitization Group or the Home Equity Financing Group. 

The only named individuals are Mr. Menefee and Mr. Carroll, and the complaint makes specific 

allegations involving them only as to a minority of the securitizations. 2 

B. Due Diligence 

Before purchasing a pool of mortgage loans from an originator, the Barclays business 

groups conducted due diligence on those loans. The groups used third-party vendors to conduct 

two types of due diligence: (1) "credit" and "compliance" due diligence, designed mainly to con

firm Barclays' representations in offering documents and to assess whether the loans were origi

nated in compliance with the applicable underwriting guidelines, laws, and regulations; and 

(2) "valuation" due diligence, designed to review the values of the underlying properties. (,, 82, 

138.) The Barclays business groups used the results of due diligence, along with other available 

information, to determine whether a particular loan should be purchased as part of the pool or 

should instead be "kicked out" of the pool and returned to the originator. (, 80.) 

1. Credit And Compliance Due Diligence 

The Barclays business groups conducted credit and compliance due diligence by sampling 

2 Those securitizations are the seven "Menefee/Carroll deals" listed in Table 2 to the complaint, 
as well as SABR 2006-NCl, SABR 2007-NCl, SABR 2006-WM2, SABR 2006-HEl, SABR 
2006-HE2, SABR 2006-NC2, SABR 2006-FRl, SABR 2006-FR2, and WFHET 2006-3. 
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loans from a given loan pool. (, 76.) The Asset Securitization Group selected loans for review 

using "adverse-selection" criteria in an attempt to identify the "riskiest" loans in the loan pool; in 

contrast, the RMBS Securitization Group and the Home Equity Financing Group selected loans 

for review using a combination of adverse-selection criteria and random sampling. (,, 203-204 

& n.16.) Barclays also developed what it called "layered-risk" criteria to assess the loans. (,, 181, 

204.) Layered-risk criteria were additional combinations of risk factors that Barclays used to help 

identify loans that it believed might have a heightened risk of non-payment, even if the loans met 

the originators' underwriting guidelines. (Id. ) In other words, a loan could trigger Barclays' own 

layered-risk criteria even if it was originated in accordance with the underwriting guidelines. (Id. ) 

After conducting due diligence, the vendors assigned loans one of the following grades: 

• Event Level 1 (EVJ): A loan considered by the vendor to satisfy the criteria in the 
originator's underwriting guidelines and to comply with all applicable laws. 

• Event Level 2 (EV2): A loan considered by the vendor to have been appropriately orig
inated under an exception to the originator's underwriting guidelines, based on the 
presence of sufficient compensating factors (such as a borrower's higher credit score 
or lower debt-to-income ratio), and to comply with all applicable laws. 

• Event Level 3 (EV3): A loan considered by the vendor to fall within one of following 
four categories: (1) a loan that had exceptions to the originator's underwriting guide
lines but was not adequately offset by sufficient compensating factors; (2) a loan that 
failed to comply with applicable laws; (3) a loan whose file was missing certain docu
mentation; or (4) a loan that met Barclays' layered-risk criteria. 

• Event Level 4 (EV4): A loan that "met Barclays' layered risk factors." Vendors fre
quently did not use the discrete EV 4 designation but instead simply graded loans that 
would qualify as EV 4s as EV3s. 

(,, 49, 140-141, 184 n.14.) 

Once Barclays received the results of due diligence, it generally purchased loans graded 

EVl or EV2 without further review. (, 163.) Loans graded EV3 or EV4 would receive further 

consideration by Barclays to determine whether they should be "kicked" from the loan pool. 

(,, 164-165, 346.) As shown in Table 7 of the complaint, Barclays did not securitize the vast 
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majority of loans graded EV3 and EV4. Those loans, it bears emphasizing, included loans that 

complied with the originators' underwriting guidelines but that Barclays nevertheless rejected 

based on its own layered-risk criteria. (� 184 n.14.) In some instances, Barclays elected to pur

chase EV3 and EV 4 loans after further review. At times, the due-diligence vendors used the grade 

"EV2W" or "EV2 Per Client" to identify EV3 loans included as a result of these decisions by 

Barclays. (� 174.) Of the 19,569 loans graded EV3, EV4, or EV2W across the 36 securitizations, 

Barclays declined to purchase 13,171-a "kick-out" rate of nearly 70%. (Table 7.) 

2. Valuation Due Diligence 

As to valuation due diligence, the third-party vendors first categorized loans as high-risk 

or low-risk. (� 270.) For low-risk loans, the vendors applied an "automated valuation model," a 

computer program that generated an estimated value for the property based on comparable home 

prices and other criteria. (� 271.) Where the estimated value was within a predetermined percent

age (typically 15%) of the original appraised value, Barclays generally purchased loans without 

further review. (�� 271-273, 288.) If the estimated value differed by more than the predetermined 

percentage, the vendor obtained a valuation opinion from a licensed broker (known as a "broker 

price opinion"). (� 272.) If the broker price opinion also differed from the original appraised value 

by more than the predetermined percentage, a licensed appraiser conducted a "desk review," which 

involved a review of the loan file as well as the results of the prior stages of due diligence. (�� 272-

273.) If the appraiser's reconciled value still differed by more than the predetermined percentage, 

representatives from Barclays, the originator, and the due-diligence vendor would discuss the loan 

and make a final decision about whether to purchase the loan or "kick" it. (�� 273-274.) For high

risk loans, the process was generally the same, except that, given the higher-risk nature of these 

loans, Barclays sent all of them directly to a broker for a valuation opinion. (� 275.) 
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C. The Process Of Securitization 

After a pool of mortgage loans cleared due diligence and was purchased from an originator, 

the loans were securitized. As is typical in the industry, the certificates for each securitization 

were divided into different classes, or "tranches," organized to provide different levels of return 

commensurate with different expected levels of risk. (, 94.) The tranches with greater seniority 

had the lowest risk: they generally received priority of payment and had greater credit protection. 

(Id. ) The tranche with the least seniority, known as the "equity" ( or "first loss") tranche, was the 

riskiest because it had the least credit protection and was the first to suffer losses if borrowers 

defaulted on their mortgage payments. (,, 94-95, 97.) Barclays held the equity tranche in "the 

majority of' the 36 securitizations (, 97}-in fact, in 31 of the 36 securitizations, including 21 of 

the 22 securitizations issued by Mr. Menefee's and Mr. Carroll's group. In other words, Barclays 

held the riskiest tranches of these securitizations and was exposed to the greatest risk of loss due 

to defaulting loans. As a result, Barclays had every incentive to minimize losses in connection 

with the securitizations, and it eventually lost hundreds of millions of dollars when the underlying 

loans failed to perform as expected. (Id. ; Ex. 1, at 53 (Barclays Form 20-F, FY 2007).) 3 

As was "common," the securitizations included "credit enhancement" features, which were 

intended to "absorb[] the initial losses stemming from defaults in the underlying mortgages." (, 95 

& n.7.) These credit enhancement features included, for example, overcollateralization-i. e. , "the 

inclusion of a larger dollar amount of mortgages in the pool than the par value of the security." 

(Id. ) The very structure of the securitizations thus contemplated the occurrence of some amount 

of "losses stemming from defaults in the underlying mortgages." (Id. ) 

3 The cited exhibits are attached to the Declaration of Jesse T. Smallwood filed contempora
neously with this motion. 
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Barclays arranged for each of the securities to be rated by one or more national rating 

agencies. (� 95.) The relevant Barclays business group sent the rating agencies information on 

the structure of the securitization and the underlying loans, and the agencies offered an opinion on 

the creditworthiness of each tranche of certificates. (Id. ) 

The prospectuses and prospectus supplements for each of the 36 securitizations disclosed 

detailed information about the securities, the loans underlying them, and the material risks of in

vestment. (� 100.) These offering documents described the mortgage originators' guidelines for 

originating loans, but also cautioned that (1) the loans were originated or acquired only "generally 

in accordance with" those guidelines, (2) "[ o ]n a case-by-case basis, exceptions to the . . . 

[u]nderwriting [g]uidelines are made where compensating factors exist," and (3) in certain secu

ritizations, "a substantial portion of the mortgage loans in the mortgage pool will represent these 

exceptions." (See, e.g., App. D, at 1 (emphases added); see also � 105.) The offering documents 

also disclosed that the securities were backed by subprime and Alt-A mortgages, which "may ex

perience higher rates of delinquencies, defaults and foreclosures" than those underwritten to the 

guidelines of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. (See, e.g., App. E, at 1; see also � 100.) The offering 

documents also contained extensive disclosures about the appraisals Barclays obtained on the un

derlying properties, telling investors that appraisals were opinions of value at a time prior to the 

offering (usually when the loan was made) and that "[n]o assurance can be given that the value of 

any mortgaged property has remained or will remain" the same. (See, e.g., App. F, at 30.)4 

D. The Amended Complaint 

On December 22, 2016, the government filed this lawsuit under FIRREA, 12 U.S.C. 

4 Attached as Appendices D to F are charts collecting relevant disclosures from the prospectus 
supplements for the 36 securitizations regarding the loans' compliance with guidelines, the risks 
of investing in non-prime mortgages, and the appraisals obtained on the underlying properties. 
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§ 1833a, which authorizes civil penalties against persons who commit certain predicate criminal 

offenses involving financial institutions. The government filed an amended complaint on May 11, 

2017. The government alleges that defendants engaged in a single, overarching scheme to defraud 

investors, committing the predicate offenses of mail and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1341 and 1343; bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344; executing a scheme fraudulently 

to benefit from a transaction with a financial institution, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1005; and 

making false statements to a financial institution, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014. (,r 27.) 

In support of its fraud claims, the government asserts that Barclays made misrepresenta

tions in offering documents and presentations. Although the government alleges misrepresenta

tions in the body of its complaint, the vast majority of the alleged misrepresentations are listed in 

115 pages of appendices. (Tables 4, 5, 6.) Those appendices catalog nearly 800 separate repre

sentations, with no discussion of why they are fraudulent. (Id. ) The alleged misrepresentations in 

the body of the complaint fall into four broad categories. 

First, the government alleges that Barclays made materially false statements about the 

credit quality of the underlying loans and their compliance with underwriting guidelines. (E. g. , 

,r 168.) Unlike in other lawsuits involving residential mortgage-backed securities, however, the 

government does not allege that it conducted any independent review to assess the compliance of 

individual loans with the originators' underwriting guidelines. Instead, the government bases its 

allegations solely on the credit and compliance due diligence undertaken by Barclays' vendors, 

the results of which the complaint compiles in Table 7. That table purports to list the number of 

loans in each of the 36 securitizations that Barclays allegedly securitized despite an EV3, EV 4, 

EV2W, or "EV2 per client" rating. Notably, the government concedes that, "[i]n many cases," the 

loans listed in Table 7 in fact complied with the originators' underwriting guidelines. (,r,r 168, 184 
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n.14; see pp. 6-8, supra .) This is particularly true for EV4 loans, which the government concedes 

complied with guidelines (ii 184 n.14), but which it includes in Table 7 without distinguishing 

them from EV3 loans. In any event, in 25 of the 36 securitizations, loans with these four grades 

accounted for less than 5% of the securitized loan pool. (Table 7; see App. A.) 

Second, the government alleges that Barclays materially misrepresented the values of the 

mortgaged properties and the validity of the supporting appraisals. (E. g. , ,r,r 282-284, 289.) Here, 

too, the government bases these allegations solely on the results of Barclays' due diligence and 

not on any independent review of the loans. Table 9 of the complaint purports to list the number 

of loans in each securitization alleged to be "out of tolerance" (that is, where the due-diligence 

vendor's estimated value differed from the original appraised value by more than 15%) or "under

water" (that is, where the amount owed on the loan exceeded the due-diligence vendor's estimated 

value). (,r,r 283, 289; Table 9.) According to the government's table, in only eight of the 36 secu

ritizations were more than 5% of the loans "out of tolerance." (Table 9; see App. A.) Although it 

alleges that in 22 of the 36 securitizations more than 5% of the loans were "underwater," it nowhere 

specifies by how much such loans supposedly were "underwater." (Table 9; see App. A.) 

Third, the government alleges that Barclays' statements in presentations misrepresented 

the thoroughness of the due-diligence reviews and the significance of their findings. (E.g. ,  ,r,r 297-

307.) The complaint does not allege that these presentations were made to financial institutions 

or federally insured financial institutions. 

Fourth, the government advances allegations of false statements that apply only to specific 

securitizations, mostly the seven subprime principal deals it calls the "Menefee/Carroll deals." 

In an attempt to satisfy FIRREA' s requirement that an act of mail or wire fraud "affect" a 

federally insured financial institution, the government theorizes that the alleged fraud "affected" 
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institutions that (1) originated loans later securitized by Barclays c, 318); (2) purchased certificates 

c, 320); (3) purchased certificates on the secondary market or purchased collateralized debt obli

gations backed by certificates c, 323); (4) "provided 'repurchase' financing to other investors ac

quiring Barclays' [securities]" (id. ); (5) administered the trusts as trustees c, 327); and (6) served 

as loan servicers, loan file custodians, or "cap trustees" c,, 328, 330). The government, however, 

does not and cannot allege that Barclays is a federally insured financial institution, and it makes 

only scant allegations as to the part played by any such institutions in connection with the 36 

securitizations at issue. For example, although the government asserts that "[n]umerous [institu

tions] bought certificates in the [ securitizations] on the basis of [ d]efendants' representations about 

the loans" c, 320), it does not identify any securitization in which a federally insured financial 

institution purchased a certificate, nor does it allege that any such institution purchased a certificate 

in each of the 36 securitizations. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Under Rule 12(b )( 6), a complaint should be dismissed if it fails to plead "enough facts to 

state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 

570 (2007). The Court may consider, among other sources, "any written instrument attached to 

the complaint, statements or documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, legally re

quired public disclosure documents filed with the SEC, and documents possessed by or known to 

the plaintiff and upon which it relied in bringing the suit." ATS! Communications, Inc. v. Shaar 

Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007). 

When a plaintiff alleges fraud, as the government does here, it must also satisfy the height

ened pleading standard of Rule 9(b ). See, e.g., Lewis v. Delaware Charter Guarantee & Trust 

Co., Civ. No. 14-1779, 2015 WL 1476403, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2015), ajf'd as modified, 642 

Fed. Appx. 23 (2d Cir. 2016); Innovation Ventures, LLC v. Ultimate One Distributing Corp., Civ. 

13 

Case 1:16-cv-07057-KAM-JO   Document 80   Filed 10/10/17   Page 23 of 73 PageID #: 1643



No. 12-5354, 2014 WL 1311979, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2014). Under that rule, "[t]he time, 

place, and nature of the misrepresentations must be set forth so that the defendant's intent to de

fraud, to employ any scheme or artifice to defraud, [or] to make any untrue statement of a material 

fact . . . is revealed." Ross v. Bolton, 904 F.2d 819, 823 (2d Cir. 1990). 

ARGUMENT 

FIRREA authorizes the government to seek civil penalties only for specified criminal of

fenses that meaningfully involve financial institutions. To state a valid claim under the civil-pen

alties provision, the government must sufficiently plead the elements of a predicate offense. When 

relying on the predicate offenses of mail or wire fraud, the government must additionally plead 

that the mail or wire fraud "affected" a federally insured financial institution. The government 

here has failed to establish the requisite effect on federally insured financial institutions: its novel 

theory of the "affecting" requirement would stretch FIRREA beyond all recognition, and its con

clusory allegations fail to establish the required effect even if its theory were valid. Despite con

ducting a two-year investigation of Barclays in which it collected more than 11 million documents, 

took testimony from 18 current and former Barclays employees, and obtained substantial addi

tional discovery from third parties, the government also has failed to plead the elements of any of 

the five predicate offenses it identifies. The complaint should be dismissed. 

I. THE CLAIMS BASED ON MAIL, WIRE, AND BANK FRAUD SHOULD BE DIS
MISSED BECAUSE THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT ADEQUATELY ALLEGE 
THE REQUISITE CONNECTION TO A FINANCIAL INSTITUTION 

The government predicates its FIRREA claims principally on alleged violations of the 

mail-, wire-, and bank-fraud statutes. Under FIRREA, it is not sufficient for the government to 

state a claim of mail or wire fraud; the government must additionally allege that the defendant's 

mail or wire fraud "affect[ed] a federally insured financial institution." 12 U.S.C. § 1833a(c)(2) 

(emphasis added). Similarly, to state a claim under the bank-fraud statute, the government must 
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allege that the defendant intended to defraud or to obtain the property of a financial institution by 

means of fraud. 18 U.S.C. § 1344(1), (2). 

In recent cases, the government has sometimes pursued FIRREA claims against financial 

institutions on the theory that those institutions committed mail or wire fraud affecting themselves. 

Here, however, none of the Barclays defendants is a qualifying "federally insured financial insti

tution." The government thus offers a variety of novel theories for how Barclays' conduct sup

posedly affected or targeted other financial institutions. (,r,r 316-331.) Each of those theories fails. 

The government therefore cannot rely on mail, wire, or bank fraud as a FIRREA predicate offense. 

A. The Government's 'Purchaser' Theory Is Legally Insufficient 

1. Mail And Wire Fraud 

The government's primary theory is that Barclays' alleged mail and wire fraud affected 

federally insured financial institutions because such institutions were among the many investors 

that purchased certificates in the 36 securitizations. (,r,r 319-322, 324-325.) As the government 

knows full well, those institutions purchased only a small portion of the certificates. But under the 

government's theory, any purchase by a federally insured financial institution satisfies FIRREA's 

requirement that an act of mail or wire fraud "affect[] a federally insured financial institution." 

This Court should reject that unprecedented expansion of FIRREA. 5 Neither FIRREA's 

5 We are aware of only one other case in which the Department of Justice sued an issuer under 
FIRREA and sought to base liability on the sales of residential mortgage-backed securities to fi
nancial institutions. See United States v. Bank of America Corp., Civ. No. 13-446 (W.D.N.C. filed 
Aug. 6, 2013). In that case, however, the government did not argue that the sale of securities 
constituted mail or wire fraud "affecting a federally insured financial institution"; instead, it prem
ised its FIRREA claim on alleged violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 1014, and the SEC simul
taneously brought a parallel civil action for violations of the securities laws. See SEC v. Bank of 
America Corp., Civ. No. 13-447 (W.D.N.C. filed Aug. 6, 2013). 
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text nor its legislative history indicates that Congress intended for the requirement that the defend

ant's mail or wire fraud "affect[] a federally insured financial institution" to apply to such a negli

gible banking connection. FIRREA's civil-penalties provision arranges its predicate criminal of

fenses in categories. Section 1833a( c )(1) identifies criminal offenses, such as bank fraud, that 

inherently concern "criminal activity in matters meaningfully involving financial institutions." 

United States v. Bank of New York Mellon, 941 F. Supp. 2d 438, 453 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (emphasis 

added). Section 1833a( c )(2) targets broader criminal offenses, such as mail and wire fraud, but 

specifies that the offense must "affect[] a federally insured financial institution." The phrase "af

fecting a federally insured financial institution" thus serves an important limiting function: it en

sures that Section 1833a( c )(2), like Section 1833a( c )(1 ), "restrict[ s] coverage" to those offenses 

"meaningfully involving financial institutions." Bank o/New York Mellon, 941 F. Supp. 2d at 454. 

An alleged securities fraud does not meaningfully involve federally insured financial institutions 

merely because one of those institutions happens to purchase a security. 

If accepted, the government's theory would convert FIRREA's civil-penalties provision 

into an alternative mechanism for prosecuting civil securities fraud. All the government would 

have to do is allege a single purchase by a federally insured financial institution, and the Depart

ment of Justice would be able to pursue a civil remedy for the alleged fraud-thus displacing the 

"complete autonomy" of the Securities and Exchange Commission in civil enforcement of the 

securities laws, SEC v. Robert Collier & Co., 76 F.2d 939, 940 (2d Cir. 1935) (Hand, J.); see also 

15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d), 78u(d)(3), and giving itself an additional.five years in which to pursue such a 

claim, compare 28 U.S.C. § 2462 (five-year limitations period for securities fraud), with 12 U.S.C. 

§ 1833a(h) (ten-year limitations period for civil penalties under FIRREA). 

Nothing in the legislative history suggests that Congress intended to make "so sweeping 
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and so relatively unorthodox a change." Chisom v. Roemer, 501 U.S. 380, 396 n.23 (1991) (cita

tion omitted). As initially drafted, the civil-penalties provision did not even include mail or wire 

fraud as predicate offenses. Congress included the reference to mail or wire fraud at the recom

mendation of Representative Doug Barnard, who observed that "many financial institution frauds 

usually involve . . . either the mail or interstate phone calls." Prosecuting Fraud in the Thrift 

Industry: Hearings Before the Subcomm. on Criminal Justice of the H Comm. on the Judiciary, 

101 st Cong. 210 ( 1989) ( statement of Rep. Barnard). There is no indication that Congress intended 

to sweep beyond "financial institution frauds"-that is, offenses meaningfully involving financial 

institutions-to any offense in which a federally insured financial institution happens to purchase 

a security. At a minimum, in light of its punitive nature, FIRREA's "affecting" clause should be 

narrowly construed to avoid that result. See, e.g., United States v. Vanoosterhout, 898 F. Supp. 

25, 30 (D.D.C. 1995), aff'd, 96 F.3d 1491 (D.C. Cir. 1996). 

2. Bank Fraud 

For similar reasons, the complaint does not adequately state a claim for bank fraud under 

Section 1344, which requires a scheme "(1) to defraud a financial institution; or (2) to obtain any 

of [its assets] . . . by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises." 18 

U.S.C. § 1344.6 Under Section 1344(1), the government must allege that Barclays engaged in "a 

pattern or course of conduct designed to deceive a . . . financial institution into releasing prop

erty, with the intent to victimize the institution by exposing it to actual or potential loss." United 

States v. Stavroulakis, 952 F.2d 686, 694 (2d Cir. 1992). Under Section 1344(2), the government 

must allege that Barclays intended to obtain property "owned by, or under the custody or control 

6 The term "financial institution" includes federally insured financial institutions and other 
institutions such as credit unions and federal home loan banks. See 18 U.S.C. § 20. The bank
fraud claim thus implicates a wider range of institutions than the mail- and wire-fraud claims. 
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of, a financial institution" and that "the envisioned result-i. e., the obtaining of bank property

occur[ red] by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises." Loughrin v. 

United States, 134 S. Ct. 2384, 2389 (2014) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

Just as it does not satisfy the "affecting" requirement for predicate mail or wire fraud under 

FIRREA, the claim here does not constitute bank fraud. In criminalizing schemes to defraud or to 

obtain the property of financial institutions, Congress targeted schemes directed against banks, not 

schemes directed against investors generally. Congress "specifically designed" the bank-fraud 

statute to close "gaps . . . in Federal jurisdiction" involving bank-specific frauds. S. Rep. No. 

98-225, at 377-378 (1983). The government has invoked Section 1344 to pursue those types of 

frauds. See, e.g., United States v. Bouchard, 828 F.3d 116 (2d Cir. 2016) (mortgage fraud); United 

States v. Laljie, 184 F.3d 180 (2d Cir. 1999) (fraudulent checks); Stavroulakis, 952 F.2d 686 (sale 

of stolen checks). But as far as we are aware, there is no precedent for the government's using the 

bank-fraud statute to prosecute a generic claim of securities fraud against an issuer-that is, a 

claim that a defendant made misrepresentations to investors generally and that a financial institu

tion happened to be among the purchasers of the security. 

B. The Complaint Does Not Allege Facts To Support The 'Purchaser' Theory 

1. Mail And Wire Fraud 

Even if the government's primary theory for satisfying the "affecting" requirement were 

legally valid (it is not), the government does not sufficiently plead that each alleged mail- or wire

fraud violation had the requisite effect. The complaint lumps together federally insured financial 

institutions and other financial institutions and alleges generally that such institutions purchased 

in the 36 securitizations. (,r 320.) That general allegation is insufficient for four reasons. 

First, the government does not allege that a federally insured financial institution purchased 
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in each of the subject securitizations, much less identify which federally insured financial institu

tions purchased in each securitization. Its allegations regarding purchases improperly lump to

gether federally insured financial institutions and other financial institutions, thus failing to 

demonstrate that a federally insured financial institution purchased in each securitization. (,, 320-

321.) The government's failure could hardly be inadvertent, as it conducted a two-year investiga

tion into Barclays. 7 

Second, the government does not adequately allege that, to the extent federally insured 

financial institutions purchased in the securitizations, they were "affect[ ed]" by an alleged misrep

resentation by suffering an actual loss or increased risk of loss. 8 In other provisions of FIRREA, 

see 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 3293(2), courts have interpreted the phrase "affect[] a financial institution" 

to mean "to make a material impression on; to act upon, influence, move, touch, or have an effect 

on," or, "perhaps more appositely" in this case, "to have a detrimental influence on." United States 

v. Mullins, 613 F.3d 1273, 1278 (10th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). 

Like other courts, the Second Circuit has required that the effect of the alleged violation be "suf

ficiently direct." United States v. Bouyea, 152 F.3d 192, 195 (2d Cir. 1998) (per curiam); see also 

United States v. Rubin/Chambers, Dunhill Insurance Services, 831 F. Supp. 2d 779, 784 (S.D.N.Y. 

7 The complaint also alleges generally that unidentified affiliates of such institutions purchased 
in the securitizations. (,, 319, 355, 374.) That allegation is insufficient for all of the reasons stated 
in the text and for one additional one: fraud directed at an affiliate may well have no effect on the 
federally insured financial institution itself. 

8 Some courts have held that the requisite effect may be demonstrated by an actual loss or 
"increased risk of loss" to a federally insured financial institution. United States v. Serpico, 
320 F.3d 691, 694-695 (7th Cir. 2003); see also, e.g., United States v. Mullins, 613 F.3d 1273, 
1278-1279 (10th Cir. 2010) (same). The risk of loss, however, must be "realistic" and significant, 
not hypothetical or immaterial. See United States v. Agne, 214 F.3d 47, 53 (1st Cir. 2000); United 
States v. Carollo, Crim. No. 10-654, 2011 WL 3875322, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2011). 
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2011) (requiring a "direct link"). "[R]emote," "indirect," and "attenuated" consequences are in-

sufficient because, in such cases, the defendant's conduct does not affect a federally insured finan

cial institution "in any meaningful sense." Mullins, 613 F.3d at 1278; see also United States v. 

Pelullo, 964 F.2d 193, 216 (3d Cir. 1992) (consequences must not be "unreasonably remote"). In 

this regard, the "affecting" requirement incorporates principles of proximate causation. See Bank 

of New York Mellon, 941 F. Supp. 2d at 459-460.9 

Here, as the complaint explains, the securities were structured into different tranches, and 

"the highest-rated tranches were entitled to earlier payment from loan pool cash flows and had the 

most cushion against losses." (,r 94.) As a result, the effects (if any) from any alleged misrepre

sentation varied from tranche to tranche, and, therefore, from purchaser to purchaser. The gov

ernment vaguely alleges that "many investors in the AAA-rated tranches [i.e., the highest-rated 

tranches] . . . have suffered or are projected to suffer significant losses." (,r 2 (emphasis 

added).) It makes no effort, however, to allege that any of the federally insured financial institu

tions have suffered losses or are realistically projected to do so. 

Third, the government does not distinguish between financial institutions' purchases of 

certificates "with funds they owned" and purchases as conduits for investors with funds in their 

"custody." (,r,r 320, 324.) As courts have held, there is no cognizable "effect" on an institution 

that is used only to "transfer . . . funds." United States v. Ubakanma, 215 F.3d 421, 426-427 

(4th Cir. 2000); see also United States v. Agne, 214 F.3d 47, 51-53 (1st Cir. 2000) (holding that 

9 The requirement that the effect be "sufficiently direct" resembles the causation requirement 
of the civil RICO statute, which demands "some direct relation between the injury asserted and 
the injurious conduct alleged." Hemi Group, LLC v. City of New York, 559 U.S. 1, 9, 14 (2010) 
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Under the civil RICO statute, as under FIRREA, 
"[ a] link that is 'too remote,' 'purely contingent,' or 'indirec[t]' is insufficient." Id. at 9 (second 
alteration in original) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 
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there was no "effect" where the financial institution was a conduit that "suffered no actual financial 

loss and experienced no realistic prospect of loss"). FIRREA is concerned with losses to financial 

institutions and the federal deposit funds that insure them, not losses to accountholders. The gov

ernment cannot base its mail- and wire-fraud claims on purchases made for persons or entities that 

are not federally insured financial institutions, and its failure to exclude such purchases from its 

allegations requires dismissal of these claims. 

Fourth, although the government alleges that Barclays made false representations to rating 

agencies (,r,r 3, 296), it does not allege that those representations had any impact on the ratings 

they issued or on any federally insured financial institution that purchased in any of the securitiza

tions. To the extent they rest on Barclays' purported misrepresentations to rating agencies, there

fore, the government's allegations concerning the "affecting" requirement are plainly insufficient. 

2. Bank Fraud 

The government also does not adequately plead that each alleged bank-fraud violation had 

the requisite connection to a financial institution. The government alleges in conclusory terms that 

Barclays "intended to defraud or victimize one or more financial institutions" in each subject trans

action (,r 317), but does not allege facts establishing that Barclays knowingly made misrepresen

tations to financial institutions in each transaction. It alleges in general terms that Barclays "ac

tively marketed" its securities to financial institutions; "had regular contact" with those institu

tions; and "made roadshow and other in-person presentations" to those institutions (ii 319}-none 

of which is bank fraud. And the mere allegation that financial institutions purchased certificates 

in the 36 securitizations (,r,r 320-321) does not demonstrate that Barclays intended to defraud or 

deceive such institutions. 

As with the mail- and wire-fraud claims, the government fails to distinguish between pur

chases of certificates by financial institutions for their own account and purchases for investors 
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using funds in their custody. (,, 320, 324.) That ambiguity further dooms the bank-fraud claims. 

The complaint's allegations about custodial accounts do not state a claim under either Section 

1344(1) or Section 1344(2). As to Section 1344(1 ), those allegations do not establish that Barclays 

"misled [a] bank in order to obtain those funds," Shaw v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 462, 466 (2016); 

the mere happenstance that investors made purchases through a financial institution is insufficient 

to give rise to liability, see Laljie, 184 F.3d at 189-190. And as to Section 1344(2), "the defend

ant's false statement [must be] the mechanism naturally inducing [the] bank (or custodian) to part 

with its money," Loughrin, 134 S. Ct. at 2394; an investor's instruction to a bank to release its own 

money for a securities transaction does not convert an ordinary fraud claim into bank fraud. 

C. The Complaint's Alternative Theories Are Also Insufficient 

In addition to its general allegation that financial institutions purchased unspecified secu-

rities, the government attempts to plead the requisite connection to federally insured and other 

financial institutions in other ways. 1 0  Those alternative theories are equally novel, equally invalid 

( often bordering on the absurd), and equally unsupported by well-pleaded allegations. 

1. Federally Insured Financial Institutions As Originators 

The government alleged in its original complaint ( and continues to allege in the amended 

complaint) that Barclays' misrepresentations "affected" federally insured financial institutions that 

sold loans to Barclays, by "creating demand for [such] loans" and "ultimately contributing to a 

bubble that, when it burst, led to one of the most severe financial crises in this nation's history, as 

1 0  Most of these alternative theories apply only to federally insured financial institutions and 
thus appear to relate only to the government's mail- and wire-fraud claims. (,, 318, 326-331.) 
The only alternative theories that refer to financial institutions more broadly are those related to 
secondary-market purchasers and financers of purchases. (,, 323-325.) 
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well as the bankruptcy or distress of many of the [institutions] that originated the loans." (� 318.) 1 1  

That highly speculative theory, which rests on macroeconomic factors outside Barclays' control, 

is far too remote to give rise to "affecting" liability under FIRREA. See, e.g., Bouyea, 152 F .3d at 

195; Pelullo, 964 F.2d at 216. The government has not plausibly alleged that Barclays' conduct 

materially contributed to the demise or distress of loan originators, let alone to the worldwide 

financial crisis. Tellingly, the government does not allege that originators lacked other willing 

buyers for their mortgage loans, or that Barclays' share of the market for residential mortgage

backed securities was substantial. The government's allegation is implausible and insufficient. 

No doubt recognizing the inadequacy of this theory, the government offers a new one in 

its amended complaint. It alleges that Barclays' fraudulent scheme "affected" federally insured 

originators by exposing them to "claims for repurchase of large numbers of loans for breaches of 

representations and warranties under the MLP As [Mortgage Loan Purchase Agreements] signed 

by these entities." (� 318.) 12 The government offers nothing to render that allegation plausible, 

nor could it. Originators made those representations and warranties in the agreements by which 

they sold the loans to Barclays ( or in the case of the agented securitizations, third-party purchasers) 

before the loans were securitized and sold to investors. (Id. ; see also �� 56-57, 96 & n.3.) If 

originators breached those representations and warranties, they exposed themselves to repurchase 

liability under the MLP As-whether or not Barclays securitized the purchased loans or made any 

misrepresentations at all. Barclays' allegedly fraudulent scheme to make misrepresentations to 

1 1  Although the government alleges that "a substantial percentage" of the securitized loans 
were originated by federally insured financial institutions (� 318), such institutions in fact origi
nated loans in only a distinct minority of the at-issue securitizations (� 318; Table 3). 

12 The MLP A is the agreement by which a loan originator would sell a loan pool to the depos
itor. (� 56 n.3.) 
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investors and ratings agencies thus did not "affect"-i. e., produce "an impact on"-originators 

that breached their own representations and warranties. Agne, 214 F.3d at 52. 

2. Financial Institutions As Secondary-Market Purchasers 

The government next alleges that federally insured financial institutions and other financial 

institutions "purchased Barclays' RMBS certificates in the secondary market for such securities," 

and also purchased collateralized debt obligations backed by Barclays' certificates. (, 323.) To 

begin with, the government does not allege any direct relationship between Barclays' alleged mis

representations in connection with initial offerings and purchases in the secondary market by in

stitutions that may never have received or seen those representations. Once again, the govem

ment' s theory is too remote to give rise to "affecting" liability under FIRREA. The purchase of 

collateralized debt obligations-which are completely separate securities backed by multiple res

idential mortgage-backed securities-is yet another step removed from Barclays' conduct. 

The government's allegations, which are improperly made "on information and belief' 

(, 323), 13 are also far too vague to establish the claimed effect. The government's general allega

tions that federally insured financial institutions purchased securities in the secondary market or 

purchased collateralized debt obligations backed in part by Barclays' certificates make it impossi

ble to determine which securities were purchased by which institution-and thus whether 

FIRREA's "affecting" requirement is even arguably satisfied as to any of the 36 securitizations. 

See pp. 18-19, supra. The complaint also does not identify when such purchases were made or 

what (if any) losses were suffered, which would be necessary to determine whether the alleged 

13 "Because the Government is empowered to investigate allegations of fraud" under FIRREA 
"before filing its complaint, it may not be allowed to rely on information and belief." United States 
v. Wells Fargo Bank NA. , 972 F. Supp. 2d 593, 619 n.17 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 
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misrepresentations had any effect on federally insured financial institutions. See Dura Pharma

ceuticals, Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 342-343 (2005) (discussing the relationship between loss 

causation and the timing of securities transactions). 14 

3. Financial Institutions As Financers Of Purchases 

The government alleges that Barclays' misrepresentations "affected" unidentified federally 

insured financial institutions and other financial institutions that "provided 'repurchase' financing 

to other investors acquiring Barclays' [securities]." c, 323.) As with all its "affecting" theories, 

the government does not identify which financial institutions provided financing or which securi

ties were purchased with such financing, and it improperly relies "[o]n information and belief." 

(Id.) The government also does not allege a direct connection between Barclays' alleged misstate

ments and any financial-institution financer; it merely alleges that financers were injured when 

investors did not repay their loans. As one court explained, that type of multi-step allegation

whereby "fraud . . . directed against a customer of [a] depository institution" indirectly preju

dices the institution-is too "remote" to satisfy the "affecting" requirement. Pelullo, 964 F.2d at 

216. Nor does the government allege that Barclays intended to defraud or obtain the property of 

such a financial institution, as would be required to state a claim of bank fraud. 

4. Federally Insured Financial Institutions As Trustees And Trust Admin
istrators 

The government does not allege that Barclays' misrepresentations directly affected feder

ally insured financial institutions as trustees; instead, it alleges only that such institutions have 

14 Similarly, unspecified purchases in the secondary market or purchases of collateralized debt 
obligations by financial institutions cannot support a claim of bank fraud. Barclays' general 
knowledge that financial institutions operated in those markets does not support an inference that 
Barclays intended to defraud them or to obtain their money. Cf United States v. Edelkind, 467 
F.3d 791, 798 (1st Cir. 2006) (positing that bank-fraud liability would be "doubtful" in a situation 
where the involvement of a financial institution "came about later from a separate transaction"). 
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been exposed to an indirect risk of loss because investors have sued them as trustees . (� 327.) 

The government identifies one such lawsuit, in which investors claim that a financial-institution 

trustee failed to enforce Barclays' obligation as the seller to cure or repurchase certain mortgage 

loans. (Id. (citing BlackRock Allocation Target Shares v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA., Civ. No. 14-

9371 (S.D.N.Y. filed Nov. 24, 2014).) As far as Barclays is aware, however, no court has ever 

held that, when a fraud allegedly injures a third party (here, investors), it also "affect[ s ]" a federally 

insured financial institution simply because the injured party may sue the financial institution for 

breach of an independent, contract-based duty to mitigate the injury. The basis for a suit against 

the financial institution is the financial institution's purported failure to comply with its contract

based duties, not the seller's alleged fraud. Courts have rejected that sort of attenuated theory in 

the analogous civil RICO context, see Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 457-458 

(2006), and the Second Circuit has held that claims of mail and wire fraud under FIRREA cannot 

be based on breaches of contract, see United States ex rel. 0 'Donnell v. Countrywide Home Loans, 

Inc., 822 F.3d 650, 658-660 (2d Cir. 2016). 1 5  

5. Federally Insured Financial Institutions As Servicers, Custodians Of 
Loan Files, And 'Cap Trustees ' 

Finally, the government alleges that Barclays' purported mail and wire fraud has subjected 

federally insured financial institutions to actual loss and an increased risk of loss in their capacities 

as mortgage servicers, custodians of loan files, and "cap trustees," because their costs and profits 

are tied to the number of mortgages for which they provide service. (�� 328-330.) The complaint 

1 5  Apart from the seven securitizations identified in paragraph 327 of the complaint, the gov
ernment has not identified any other securitizations that are the subject of a lawsuit against a trus
tee. The government's cursory allegations do not establish that any trustee faces a realistic pro
spect of loss in connection with the remaining 29 securitizations. 
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does not state which securitizations are implicated by this theory, or even which financial institu

tions served in those capacities. This theory is far too attenuated to satisfy FIRREA. The allega

tions do not establish any direct link between the supposed acts of mail and wire fraud (Barclays' 

alleged misrepresentations to investors and rating agencies) and the costs or profits of the "af

fected" entities. At most, the government alleges that Barclays breached contractual obligations 

to some of these entities (,r 329), meaning that any harm suffered by those entities flowed from the 

alleged contractual breaches, not from alleged misrepresentations made to others. 

II. THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT PLEAD THE BASIC ELEMENTS OF FRAUD 

The complaint is equally insufficient when it comes to the substantive elements of its pred-

icate fraud claims. This is the classic case where a "prolix" complaint is a "mask" for fundamental 

pleading defects. Williams v. W.MX Technologies, Inc., 112 F.3d 175, 178 (5th Cir. 1997). "One 

might be tempted to think that a complaint spanning more than 100 pages and consisting of more 

than 200 paragraphs could not fail to be specific. The temptation is dangerous and must be re

sisted." In re 2007 Novastar Financial, Inc. Securities Litigation, Civ. No. 07-139, 2008 WL 

2354367, at *2 (W.D. Mo. June 4, 2008), aff'd, 579 F.3d 878 (8th Cir. 2009). Although the com

plaint and its appendices weigh in at 328 pages and list hundreds of "representations," the com

plaint does not adequately allege the essential elements of the FIRREA predicate offenses. The 

government's claims under the mail-, wire-, and bank-fraud statutes all require it to plead a fraud

ulent scheme. See, e.g., Bigsby v. Barclays Capital Real Estate, Inc., 170 F. Supp. 3d 568, 575 

(S.D.N.Y. 2016) (mail/wire fraud); Bouchard, 828 F.3d at 123 (bank fraud). As relevant here, a 

fraudulent scheme includes four elements: (1) the existence of the scheme itself; (2) fraudulent 

intent on the part of the defendant; (3) false representations; and (4) materiality. See United States 
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v. Autuori, 212 F.3d 105, 115 (2d Cir. 2000). 1 6  The government must sufficiently allege each of 

those critical elements for each of the 36 securitizations. It has not done so. 

A. The Complaint Does Not Plead A Unitary Fraudulent 'Scheme' 

To obscure its inability to plead fraud as to each of the 36 transactions, the government 

attempts to lump together all of those allegations into a single, overarching scheme carried out 

over three years-a purported scheme comprising three business groups, ten defendants, 15 orig

inators, 36 securitizations, and different types of securities, collateral, and alleged misrepresenta

tions. (E.g., ,r,r 98, 677.) The complaint, however, contains no allegations linking its disparate 

allegations into a single scheme. The government does not allege that any individual or entity 

conceived or executed a plan across multiple business groups within Barclays to defraud purchas

ers in all of the 36 transactions. 

Courts closely scrutinize allegations of a unitary scheme to defraud to ensure the existence 

of a single, overarching scheme. See, e.g., United States v. Mastelotto, 717 F.2d 1238, 1244-1246 

(9th Cir. 1983), overruled on other grounds by United States v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 135 (1985); 

United States v. Hinton, 127 F. Supp. 2d 548, 554 (D.N.J. 2000). To determine "whether two or 

more sets of allegedly fraudulent transactions could conceivably be part and parcel of the same 

fraudulent scheme," courts consider "the nature of the scheme; the identity of the participants; the 

quality, frequency and duration of each conspirator's transactions; and the commonality of time 

and goals." Mastelotto, 717 F.2d at 1245 (citation omitted). "[T]he concept of a false or fraudulent 

scheme should be construed as narrowly as is necessary to protect the policies promoted by Rule 

1 6  The government's claim that defendants participated in fraudulent bank transactions, in vi
olation of 18 U.S.C. § 1005, also requires allegations of an "intent to defraud." 18 U.S.C. § 1005, 
cl. 4. Additionally, the government's claim that defendants made false statements to banks, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014, requires a showing of falsity. See, e.g., United States v. Chacko, 
169 F.3d 140, 147 (2d Cir. 1999). 
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9(b)." United States ex rel. Bledsoe v. Community Health Systems, Inc., 501 F.3d 493, 510 (6th 

Cir. 2007); see also United States v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA., 972 F. Supp. 2d 593, 617 n.15 

(S.D.N.Y. 2013) (same). 

The unitary scheme alleged by the complaint does not withstand close scrutiny. The com

plaint's  allegations instead reveal crucial differences among the securitizations that contradict the 

existence of an overarching scheme. First, three different business groups were responsible for 

the 36 securitizations. (,r,r 64, 67, 73.) The complaint does not identify any management directive 

that the three business units advance a common scheme. Second, different Barclays employees 

staffed those groups. Although the complaint focuses on Mr. Menefee and Mr. Carroll, the only 

two named individual defendants, neither is sued for fraud with respect to the Alt-A or third-party 

securitizations (e.g. ,  ,r,r 26, 332-374), and the complaint does not identify any other individual who 

could have conceived or directed the supposed scheme. Third, the three business groups used 

different procedures to securitize different types of loans, and they had different roles depending 

on the securitization. (,r,r 68, 70-73.) The complaint thus fails to supply the necessary allegations 

to render plausible its conclusory theory of a single scheme. 

The complaint is also deficient because it lumps together alleged FIRREA predicate of

fenses against multiple financial institutions. The "plain language" of the bank-fraud statute "de

fines one of the elements of bank fraud as a scheme to defraud 'a financial institution, ' not a 

scheme to defraud financial institutions." Hinton, 127 F. Supp. 2d at 554 (emphasis added) (quot

ing 18 U.S.C. § 1344). One court dismissed a bank-fraud charge that alleged a plan to defraud six 

different banks on the ground that "schemes against six separate unrelated financial institutions 

[may not be] lumped into a single count contrary to the language of [Section] 1344." Id. at 556. 

Under the plain language of FIRREA, the same rule applies to mail- and wire-fraud offenses: the 
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statute speaks of "a violation of' the mail- or wire-fraud statute "affecting a federally insured 

financial institution." 12 U.S.C. § 1833a( c )(2) ( emphasis added). Here, the complaint is a hodge

podge of allegations that defendants made misrepresentations to an undifferentiated group of at 

least 15 financial institutions, and affected an additional group of unnamed financial institutions 

in other ways, across 36 securitizations. (, 321.) 

Important policies underlie the requirement that the government exercise care in pleading 

a single, overarching scheme: namely, "avoiding [the] risk that jurors may not have been unani

mous as to any one of the crimes charged" and "assuring [the] defendant adequate notice of [the] 

charged crimes." United States v. Olmeda, 461 F.3d 271, 281 (2d Cir. 2006) (quoting United 

States v. Margiotta, 646 F.2d 729, 732-733 (2d Cir. 1981)); see also Hinton, 127 F. Supp. 2d at 

553 (same). Those policies apply with equal force in the civil context-particularly where, as 

here, the civil claims depend on the existence of criminal predicate offenses. Cf Fed. R. Civ. P. 

lO(b) (providing that, "[i]f doing so would promote clarity, each claim founded on a separate 

transaction or occurrence-and each defense other than a denial-must be stated in a separate 

count or defense"). This case well illustrates the reasons for such a rule: as the complaint currently 

reads, jurors could find Barclays liable for engaging in a criminal "scheme" without any unanimity 

as to the contours of that scheme or which of the 36 securitizations the scheme included. Because 

the complaint's factual allegations are at odds with its conclusory allegation of a single scheme, 

the complaint cannot stand, and it should be dismissed. 

B. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege Fraudulent Intent 

The government must also allege facts that "give rise to a strong inference of fraudulent 

intent" for its mail-, wire-, and bank-fraud counts. Bank of New York Mellon, 941 F. Supp. 2d at 

464 ( citation omitted). To do so, absent direct evidence of a defendant's state of mind (which is 

not alleged here), the complaint must allege "a motive for committing fraud and a clear opportunity 
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for doing so" or "circumstances indicating conscious behavior by the defendant, though the 

strength of the circumstantial allegations must be correspondingly greater." Powers v. British 

Vita, P.L. C. , 57 F.3d 176, 184-185 (2d Cir. 1995) (citation omitted). The complaint does neither. 

1. 'Motive And Opportunity ' 

The government's core allegation on the element of intent is that Barclays was motivated 

by a desire "to increase its profits and its share of the RMBS market" by "securitizing as many 

loans as possible," "no matter how defective." (,, 5, 11, 148 .) That is not enough. The Second 

Circuit has repeatedly held that a motivation to make a profit-the hallmark, by definition, of every 

"for-profit" enterprise-is insufficient to establish fraudulent intent. See, e.g. , Kalnit v. Eichler, 

264 F.3d 131, 139-140 (2d Cir. 2001) (citation omitted); Brookdale University Hospital & Medical 

Center, Inc. v. Health Insurance Plan of Greater New York, Civ. No. 07-1471, 2009 WL 928718, 

at *6 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2009). 

In any event, the detailed allegations in the complaint contradict in two significant ways 

the government's allegation that Barclays' motive was to securitize as many loans as it could re

gardless of quality. First, the government acknowledges that Barclays retained the "equity" 

tranche in the majority of the 36 securitizations. (, 97.) As the riskiest tranches, the equity 

tranches were the first to suffer losses if mortgage borrowers defaulted on their loans. (,, 94-95, 

97.) It would have been completely illogical for Barclays to securitize as many loans as possible, 

"no matter how defective" (, 148), because doing so would have injured Barclays first, before the 

other certificate holders suffered losses. The government's view of the facts therefore "defies 

economic reason." Atlantic Gypsum Co. v. Lloyds International Corp. , 753 F. Supp. 505, 514 

(S.D.N.Y. 1990). In such circumstances, there can be "no reasonable inference," let alone a strong 
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inference, of fraudulent intent. Jones v. Perez, 550 Fed. Appx. 24, 29 (2d Cir. 2013). 1 7  

Second, the complaint acknowledges that, after conducting due diligence, Barclays de

clined to securitize thousands ofloans worth hundreds of millions of dollars, because it determined 

that the loans did not comply with the originators' underwriting guidelines or otherwise were too 

risky. (Table 7.) According to the government's own analysis, Barclays kicked out nearly 70% 

of the loans graded EV3, EV4, or EV2W by its due-diligence vendors. See p .  8, supra . That figure 

directly refutes the government's assertion that Barclays sought to "securitiz[e] as many loans as 

possible," "no matter how defective." c, 148.) The government also concedes that Barclays re

fused to buy certain loans from originators solely because of Barclays' own heightened-risk crite

ria, which it had no obligation to impose. c,, 181, 186.) If Barclays had wanted to maximize the 

number of loans it was securitizing, it would not have imposed more demanding risk criteria and 

rejected loans that complied with originators' underwriting guidelines. The allegations at the heart 

of the government's case are "inherently contradictory" and render its motive theory implausible. 

Hopper v. Banana Republic, LLC, Civ. No. 07-8526, 2008 WL 490613, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 25, 

2008). 

2. 'Conscious Behavior ' 

The government also fails to plead facts sufficient to demonstrate "conscious behavior" 

evincing intent. In the complaint, the government names only two Barclays employees: Paul 

17 The government alleges in conclusory terms that Barclays earned fees from managing and 
executing the securitizations. c,, 96-97.) It does not, however, allege how much Barclays earned 
in fees or that those fees exceeded the losses Barclays would suffer if its equity positions did not 
perform. It is a matter of public record that Barclays lost hundreds of millions of dollars on its 
investments in residential mortgage-backed securities. (Ex. 1, at 53 (Barclays Form 20-F, FY 
2007).) Although the government alleges that Barclays' equity interests were "short-term" c, 97), 
it does not explain what that means, or how that alleged fact eliminated the risk to Barclays. 
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Menefee and John Carroll. Although the government sues Barclays for fraud involving 36 secu

ritizations, it sues Mr. Menefee and Mr. Carroll in connection with only seven (the "Menefee/Car

roll deals"). (ii 26; Table 2.) As to those seven securitizations, Barclays incorporates the argu

ments in the separate briefs filed by Mr. Menefee and Mr. Carroll, which show that the government 

mischaracterizes the evidence in an attempt to manufacture an inference of fraudulent intent. 

Aside from the Menefee/Carroll deals, the complaint contains few allegations as to Mr. 

Menefee (and none as to Mr. Carroll). None of those allegations raises a strong inference of intent 

to defraud investors. As to the seven Alt-A principal securitizations, the government does not 

allege that Mr. Menefee or Mr. Carroll had any role; those securitizations "were managed and 

executed by a different component within Barclays-the RMBS Securitization Group." (ii 67.) 

The government does not allege conscious misbehavior by anyone in the RMBS Securitization 

Group ( or elsewhere) to support any inference-much less a strong inference-of fraudulent in

tent. As to the remaining 22 securitizations, the government makes no specific allegations about 

Mr. Menefee or Mr. Carroll (or anyone else at Barclays) with regard to 13 of them. 1 8  With regard 

to the other nine, 19 the complaint does not mention Mr. Carroll at all, and its allegations concerning 

Mr. Menefee distort the cited e-mails and recordings, which, when reviewed in their entirety, do 

not reflect any fraudulent intent (or improper conduct) on behalf of Mr. Menefee (or anyone 

1 8  These 13 securitizations are SABR 2006-NC3, SABR 2007-NC2, FHLT 2006-C, SABR 
2006-WMl, SABR 2006-WM3, SABR 2006-WM4, SABR 2007-HEl, EQLS 2007-1, ALBT 
2007-0Al, ARSI 2005-WS, ARSI 2006-W2, RASC 2006-K8, and WFHET 2007-1. 

19 These nine securitizations are SABR 2006-NCl, SABR 2006-NC2, SABR 2006-WM2, 
SABR 2006-FRl, SABR 2006-FR2, SABR 2006-HEl, SABR 2006-HE2, SABR 2007-NCl, and 
WFHET 2006-3. 
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else).20 

What is more, the government's own allegations affirmatively undermine its assertion that 

Barclays intended to defraud investors. As described above, Barclays retained the riskiest owner

ship interest in the vast majority of the 36 deals; it chose in its due-diligence process to identify 

loans that it thought were risky enough to warrant additional scrutiny, even though they may have 

been consistent with the originators' underwriting guidelines; and it kicked out nearly 70% of the 

loans graded EV3, EV4, and EV2W by its due-diligence review vendors. See pp. 7-8, supra . 

Those actions are wholly inconsistent with any inference of fraudulent intent, and they render the 

government's conclusory allegations implausible. 

C. The Complaint Does Not Properly Allege False Statements Or Materiality 

Because the government's fraud claims are based on alleged misrepresentations, Rule 9(b) 

requires the government to plead with particularity facts showing that the representations were 

both false and material. See, e.g., Autuori, 212 F.3d at 115; McLaughlin v. Anderson, 962 F.2d 

187, 191 (2d Cir. 1992); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Bogoraz, 818 F. Supp. 2d 544, 551 (E.D.N.Y. 2011). 

Rule 9(b) also requires the government to specify "how the[] statements were fraudulent or mis

leading." Curtis & Assocs., P.C. v. Law Offices of David M Bushman, Esq., 758 F. Supp. 2d 153, 

177 (E.D.N.Y. 2010), ajf'd, 443 Fed. Appx. 582 (2d Cir. 2011). The complaint fails those require-

ments. The vast majority of the alleged misrepresentations are listed in 115 pages of tables ap

pended to the complaint. (Tables 4, 5, 6.) The tables-which catalog nearly 800 separate repre

sentations, with no discussion of why they are fraudulent-render the complaint an impermissible 

20 Attached as Appendix B is a chart identifying the few specific allegations regarding Mr. 
Menefee on these nine deals and the reasons why the allegations do not establish fraudulent intent. 
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"puzzle pleading" that violates Rule 9(b ). The body of the complaint fares no better; the govern

ment does not adequately allege that Barclays made any false statement, let alone one that is ma

terial, for each of the 36 securitizations. 

1. Tables 4, 5, And 6 Render The Complaint An Improper 'Puzzle Pleading' 

"[P]uzzle pleadings are those that require the defendant and the court to match the state

ments up with the reasons they are false or misleading." In re Metropolitan Securities Litigation, 

532 F. Supp. 2d 1260, 1279 (E.D. Wash. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted) . Courts rou

tinely dismiss complaints on this ground. See id. ; In re Alcatel Securities Litigation, 3 82 F. Supp. 

2d 513, 531-535 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); In re Splash Technology Holdings, Inc. Securities Litigation, 

160 F. Supp. 2d 1059, 1074-1075 (N.D. Cal. 2001). 

The tables render the complaint a quintessential "puzzle pleading." The government al

leges in the tables that Barclays made hundreds of "misrepresentations" to investors. For many of 

those representations, however, the government does not identify when or to whom they were 

made or why they supposedly are false. Rather, the tables list nearly 800 allegedly false represen

tations, without any further explanation. (Tables 4, 5, 6.) This Court should not countenance that 

scattershot approach to pleading, which, if permitted to stand, will force the Court ( and defendants) 

to sift through the tables and the complaint to attempt, if possible, to "match the statements up with 

the reasons they are false or misleading." Metropolitan Securities Litigation, 532 F. Supp. 2d at 

1279 (citation omitted). Because Rules 8 and 9(b) require the government to do that work, the 

complaint should be dismissed, at least insofar as it is based on Tables 4, 5, and 6.  

The reasons the government believes that the hundreds of representations it lists are false 

are often far from obvious. Table 4 is a purported list of "misrepresentations" in the prospectus 

supplements. For example, the government alleges in Table 4 that, on the SABR 2006-FR2 secu

ritization, Barclays represented that "[t]he scope of the loan due diligence varies based on the credit 
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quality of the mortgages." (Table 4 at 19.) Neither the complaint nor Table 4, however, explains 

why that statement was false. Adding to the confusion, the prospectus supplements for many of 

the 36 securitizations include a nearly identical representation, but are not included in Table 4-

meaning that the government is not alleging that those representations were fraudulent. (E.g. ,  Ex. 

2, at 36 (BCAP 2006-AAl).) 

In another example, the government alleges in Table 5 that the pooling and servicing agree-

ment for the ALBT 2007-0Al securitization includes the following "misrepresentation": 

It is understood and agreed that the representations, warranties and covenants set 
forth in this Section 2.03(c) shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agree
ment, and shall inure to the benefit of the Depositor, the Trustee and the Certificate 
holders. Upon discovery by any of the Depositor, the Trustee, the Securities Ad
ministrator or the Master Servicer of a breach of any of the foregoing representa
tions, warranties and covenants that materially and adversely affects the interests 
of the Depositor or the Trustee or the value of any Mortgage Loan or Prepayment 
Charge, the party discovering such breach shall give prompt written notice to the 
other parties. 

(Table 5 at 1.) That is not a representation; it is a standard contractual provision requiring parties 

to give prompt written notice of certain breaches. Neither the complaint nor Table 5 explains why 

that provision is false in any securitization, let alone this one. 

Table 6, which lists "representations" that Barclays allegedly made during "presentations 

to [ unnamed] investors and rating agencies," best illustrates the puzzle-like nature of the tables. 

(,r 125.) Conspicuously, although Tables 4 and 5 are captioned "Compendium of Misrepresenta

tions," Table 6 is captioned only "Compendium of Representations," as Barclays pointed out in its 

original motion to dismiss. Although the government meticulously revised the text of its amended 

complaint to change the word "representation" to "misrepresentation" when discussing Tables 4 

and 5 (e.g., ,r,r 101, 107, 110, 120), it did not revise the caption of Table 6, and the amended com-

36 

Case 1:16-cv-07057-KAM-JO   Document 80   Filed 10/10/17   Page 46 of 73 PageID #: 1666



plaint continues to refer to the "representations" in Table 6 (iii! 125, 132). In the amended com

plaint, the government also continues to allege, vaguely and tellingly, that only "[m]any of the 

representations" to investors and rating agencies were "false or misleading." (ii 134 (emphasis 

added).) The government does not identify which of the representations in Table 6 are alleged to 

be false-let alone explain why it believes they are false. Making matters worse, the government 

suggests that Table 6 is not comprehensive, noting that it is just a ''partial list of relevant repre

sentations" from the presentations. (ii 125 (emphasis added).) 

That is not a tolerable approach to pleading. The government is required to state its fraud 

claims with particularity so that defendants do not have to play "connect-the-dots" between the 

statements and the reasons for their alleged falsity. In re PETsMART, Inc. Securities Litigation, 

61 F. Supp. 2d 982, 991 & n.3 (D. Ariz. 1991). One should not have to "comb the complaint in 

search of factual support for each element of the multiple claims pled." SEC v. Patel, Civ. No. 

07-39, 2009 WL 2015794, at *2 (D.N.H. July 7, 2009). It is decidedly not the Court's and defend

ants' job to wade through hundreds of factual allegations to separate the allegedly fraudulent from 

the innocuous. 

That principle is especially important in a case such as this one, where the government has 

sued defendants on 36 securitizations, backed by thousands of mortgage loans originated by at 

least 15 different originators. Given the breadth of the allegations, discovery has the potential to 

be extraordinarily unwieldy, burdensome, and time-consuming if the government does not bear its 

burden of alleging which of defendants' statements it claims were fraudulent and why. See Met

ropolitan Securities Litigation, 532 F. Supp. 2d at 1280. Because Tables 4, 5, and 6 fall well short 

of meeting that requirement, dismissal is appropriate. 

2. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege Materially False Statements 

The text of the complaint also fails sufficiently to allege that Barclays' representations were 
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materially false. To allege falsity, the complaint must allege that a written statement was incorrect 

when viewed in the context of the document as a whole. See, e.g., Karasick v. ProShares Trust, 

728 F.3d 96, 103 (2d Cir. 2013); Lin v. Interactive Brokers Group, Inc., 574 F. Supp. 2d 408, 417 

(S.D.N.Y. 2008). To allege materiality, the complaint must allege that the statement "ha[d] a 

natural tendency to influence, or is capable of influencing, the decision of the decision-making 

body to which it was addressed." United States v. Rigas, 490 F.3d 208, 231 (2d Cir. 2007) ( citation 

omitted). The complaint fails on both counts. 

The alleged misrepresentations in the complaint fall into four broad categories, as outlined 

above. See pp. 11-12, supra . Misrepresentations in three of those categories are alleged to infect 

all of the securitizations: (1) statements about the credit quality of the underlying loans; (2) state

ments about the values of the mortgaged properties and the validity of the supporting appraisals; 

and (3) statements concerning Barclays' due-diligence practices. At a minimum, the Court should 

dismiss the complaint insofar as it rests on those three categories of alleged misrepresentations, 

which are deficient for the reasons set forth below. The fourth category of misrepresentations, 

which apply to only discrete securitizations (in large part, the subprime principal securitizations ), 

are also deficient. For the Court's convenience, the Barclays defendants have prepared a chart that 

catalogs which allegedly false statements are associated with each securitization. (App. A.) 

a. Representations Concerning Credit Quality 

The government's principal allegation is that Barclays made misrepresentations in the pro-

spectus supplements for the 36 securitizations about the credit quality of the underlying loans

namely, that all borrowers were "creditworthy"; that "the borrowers had the ability to repay the 

mortgages in accordance with their terms"; and that "the securitized loans complied with the orig

inators' underwriting guidelines." (,r,r 136, 168.) The documents incorporated by the government 

in the complaint establish that Barclays never said anything nearly so sweeping. 
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Far from representing that all borrowers were creditworthy and would be able to repay their 

mortgages, Barclays disclosed that the loans were made to subprime or other non-prime borrowers 

with a significant risk of nonpayment. (See App. E.) And while Barclays disclosed that the orig

inators' underwriting guidelines were "primarily intended to assess the ability and willingness of 

the borrower to repay the debt and to evaluate the adequacy of the mortgaged property as collateral 

for the mortgage loan," Barclays did not guarantee that the underwriting guidelines would suc

cessfully determine all borrowers' ability to repay. (Table 4 at 19.) As the government acknowl

edges elsewhere in its complaint, what Barclays did represent was that "[t]he mortgage loans were 

originated or acquired generally in accordance with the underwriting guidelines described in th[ e] 

prospectus supplement." (Table 4 at 4 (emphasis added); see also , 168; App. D.) As explained 

below, the government does not sufficiently allege, and cannot allege, that this representation

the one that Barclays actually made-was materially false. 

(1) Falsity 

Unlike the plaintiffs in many cases involving residential mortgage-backed securities, the 

government has not claimed that it reviewed even a single loan to determine whether it breached 

an originator's underwriting guidelines. Instead, the government attempts to allege the falsity of 

Barclays' statements about general guideline compliance based on (1) Barclays' due diligence on 

the loans; (2) Barclays' use of sampling; and (3) Barclays' securitization of "recycled" loans (i.e., 

loans kicked from an earlier purchase). That approach is untenable and cannot save the complaint. 

Credit and compliance due diligence. - The complaint lists approximately 6,000 securit

ized loans-from the more than 160,000 loans in the 36 securitizations-that Barclays' due-dili

gence vendors graded EV3, EV4, or EV2W. (,, 167, 176, 178; Table 7.) The government asserts 

that loans receiving those grades "should not have been securitized, but should have been rejected 

and kicked out of the deal," and that Barclays' statements were false because those loans did not 
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comply with the originators' underwriting guidelines or have sufficient compensating factors. 

<,, 145-146.) 

The complaint's own allegations eviscerate that assertion. As the complaint states, an EV3, 

EV4, or EV2W grade did not necessarily mean that a loan breached the originator's underwriting 

guidelines. (,, 168, 177, 184 n.14.)21  As to EV3 loans, the complaint notes that a loan could have 

been graded EV3 because of issues that could be cured prior to the loan's securitization, such as 

missing documents that were later found. (, 141.) The complaint also notes that, "[i]n many cases, 

Barclays' due diligence vendors graded loans" as EV3 not because they failed underwriting guide

lines, but because they failed to meet Barclays' own internal layered-risk criteria, which it imposed 

over and above the originators' underwriting guidelines. (,, 181, 184 n.14 ( emphasis added).) 

Barclays developed those criteria to identify loans with combinations of risk factors that Barclays 

believed increased credit risk, even though the loans "may have been underwritten" to the origi

nators' guidelines. (, 181; see p .  7, supra .) The same is true of a loan that received an EV2W 

designation, meaning that the loan was graded EV3 but was upgraded after additional review by 

Barclays. (,, 173-174.) The loan may originally have been graded as an EV3 because of Barclays' 

layered-risk criteria. For both EV3 and EV2W loans, the government does not allege how many, 

if any, of the loans in the securitizations actually failed to comply with the originators' underwrit

ing guidelines. Absent that allegation, the government cannot plausibly allege-let alone do so 

with particularity-that Barclays' representation about its general compliance with underwriting 

guidelines was false as to any of the 36 securitizations. 

As for the complaint's blanket assertion that EV 4 loans should not have been securitized 

21  See also Federal Housing Finance Agency v. Nomura Holding America, Inc., 68 F. Supp. 
3d 439, 451 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (making the same point). 
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as failing originator guidelines, the complaint shows that assertion to be simply wrong. (Table 7 

notes.) The government concedes that EV4 was a "special designation" that indicated that a loan 

met one of Barclays' layered-risk criteria-not that the loan failed to comply with the originator's 

underwriting guidelines. (ii 184 n.14.) Neither the complaint nor Table 7 breaks out the EV4 

loans; it simply treats them as EV3 loans. Neither Barclays nor the Court can tell the number of 

loans that the government claims violated underwriters' guidelines and thus rendered Barclays' 

representations about guideline compliance false. 

That defect permeates the government's complaint. As to each and every securitization, 

the government bases its allegation that Barclays securitized loans that breached its representations 

about compliance with underwriting guidelines on the EV2W, EV3, and EV4 grades assigned by 

Barclays' due-diligence vendors. Its concession that those grades did not necessarily mean that a 

loan failed to comply with underwriting guidelines requires dismissal of this theory of falsity. 

Sampling. - The government's efforts to allege falsity based on Barclays' use of sampling 

also do not state a claim. Barclays and its due-diligence vendors did not review every single loan 

included in a pool; instead, on its subprime principal securitizations Barclays used "adverse selec

tion" to attempt to identify the "riskiest" loans in a pool and then reviewed only those loans ( or, 

on Alt-A and agented securitizations, a combination of those loans and a random sample). See 

p. 7, supra. The government alleges that Barclays "knew from the due diligence results that the 

unreviewed loans . . . contained high percentages of materially defective and non-securitizable 

loans," but securitized the loans anyway. (,r,r 199, 590 (emphasis added).) But those allegations 

do not support an allegation of fraud because Barclays fully disclosed its use of sampling to inves

tors, as the presentations referenced in the complaint make clear. (See Ex. 3.) Those allegations 

also fail because they seek to extrapolate to the entire pool the results of a review of those loans 
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believed to be the riskiest in the pool. In Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. DB Struc

tured Products, Inc., 110 F. Supp. 3d 288 (D. Mass. 2015), the court noted that due-diligence 

results from an adversely selected sample "do not necessarily demonstrate a red flag" as to unsam

pled loans, because it was "expected" that a relatively high percentage of adversely selected loans 

would be kicked. Id. at 300. So too here. The use of sampling does not support the government's 

allegation that Barclays' representations concerning guideline compliance were false. 

"Recycled " loans. - For seven securitizations, the government alleges that Barclays' se

curitization ofloans that had received an EV3 grade or otherwise had been excluded from previous 

deals rendered its representations about compliance with underwriting guidelines false. (See App. 

A.) But the government fails to explain how the inclusion of "recycled" loans constitutes fraud or 

is inconsistent with Barclays' representations. As just discussed, a loan might have received an 

EV3 grade for any number of reasons-e. g. , because it was missing documentation (, 141) or was 

facing "delinquency issues" (, 505). Those issues could well have been cured before the loan was 

included in a later securitization, and, once cured, the loan would not have breached the guide

lines. The government alleges nothing to exclude this possibility as to any loan, let alone all of 

them. 

(2) Materiality 

The government also fails sufficiently to allege that any misrepresentation concerning 

credit quality was material. For many of the securitizations, the percentage of EV3, EV4, and 

EV2W loans securitized in a pool was miniscule; for all but two of the securitizations, those loans 

made up less than 10% of the pool. (App. A.) Even assuming that the government were correct

and it is not-that all of those loans should not have been securitized, these low error rates do not 

render false Barclays' representation that the loans were "generally" in accordance with under

writing guidelines. Even if it did, any resulting falsity would be immaterial. See Glassman v. 
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Computervision Corp., 90 F.3d 617, 634 (1st Cir. 1996) (holding that a 61 % compliance rate dur

ing a delineated period was "perfectly consistent" with a representation that shipments were "gen

erally made" within 30 days). 

In a recent RMBS case, one district court held that a deviation from a disclosed statistic 

was "immaterial" only if the accurate figure differed from the disclosed statistic by less than 5%. 

See Federal Housing Finance Agency v. Nomura Holding America, Inc., 104 F. Supp. 3d 441, 535 

(S.D.N.Y. 2015) (referencing prospectus supplements that stated that "[t]he characteristics of the 

loans included in a trust fund will not vary by more than five percent" from disclosed 

characteristics), appeal pending, No. 15-1872 (2d Cir. argued Nov. 18, 2016). That standard 

should not apply where, as here, the defendant did not disclose a specific rate of non-compliance, 

but instead represented only that the loans in question were "generally" in compliance. Even ap

plying that strict standard, however, EV3, EV4, and EV2W loans made up less than 5% of the total 

pool in 25 of the 36----or over two-thirds-of the securitizations. (App. A; see also Table 7.)22 

b. Representations Concerning Valuation And Appraisals 

The complaint similarly misstates Barclays' actual representations (as reflected in the of-

fering materials referenced in the complaint) about the value of the mortgaged properties and va

lidity of the supporting appraisals. Although the government summarily alleges that Barclays told 

investors "that the appraisals accompanying the mortgaged properties were reliable and that the 

properties had sufficient value to avoid loss in the event of default" (� 6), neither the complaint 

nor the government's tables identify any such statement. What they do show is that Barclays 

reported loan-to-value ratios based on appraisals obtained at the time of origination. (App. F.) 

22 EV3, EV4, and EV2W loans constitute more than 5% of the securitized loans for one only 
of the Alt-A principal ("BCAP") securitizations, and for three of those securitizations, they con
stitute less than 1 %. (App. A; see also Table 7.) 
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And as the government acknowledges, the reported statistics in the prospectus supplements con

cerned the pool as a whole or categories of the pool, rather than individual loans. (, 113.) For 

example, in SABR 2007-BR5, Barclays represented that "[ a ]pproximately 51. 79% of the mortgage 

loans have original loan-to-value ratios at origination, or with respect to second-lien mortgage 

loans, combined loan-to-value ratios at origination, in excess of 80%." (Table 4 at 44.) In some 

transactions, Barclays represented that the loans did not have a combined loan-to-value ratio of 

greater than 100%, or as the complaint puts it, that the loans were not "underwater." 

What is more, Barclays' representations about loan-to-value ratios carried significant dis

claimers, many of which highlighted that the representations were opinions of value as of the time 

of the loans' origination and that the appraised values of the properties at origination could differ 

from the "actual" or "current" values. For example, the offering documents emphasized that "[n]o 

assurance can be given that the value of any mortgaged property has remained or will remain at 

the level that existed on the appraisal or sales date." (App. F at  30.) 

(1) Falsity 

Here, the government again attempts to allege falsity based on Barclays' due diligence. 

Specifically, the government alleges that, "for thousands of loans that Defendants securitized in 

the [securitizations], the difference between the purported value of the property as appraised by 

the originator and the value determined by Defendants was well over 15%, which was Defendants' 

own metric for assessing the reliability of the initial appraisal." (, 283.) The government further 

alleges that Barclays' valuation due diligence uncovered "hundreds" of loans that had a loan-to

value ratio greater than 100% (i. e. , that were "underwater"), despite Barclays' representations to 

the contrary. (, 289.) 

Those allegations do not suffice. Property appraisals reflect the subjective judgment of the 
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appraiser and thus are statements of opinion, not statements of fact. See, e.g., In re IndyMac Mort

gage-Backed Securities Litigation, 718 F. Supp. 2d 495, 510-511 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); Tsereteli v. 

Residential Asset Securitization Trust 2006-A8, 692 F. Supp. 2d 387, 393-394 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). 

A statement of opinion can be false only if the opinion was both objectively and subjectively false. 

See, e.g., Nomura, l 04 F. Supp. 3d at 556-557. The complaint plausibly alleges neither. 23 

Objective falsity. - Barclays' valuation due diligence did not render any statement objec

tively false. Barclays' representations to investors about the appraised property values were ex

pressly limited to the time the mortgages were originated and cautioned investors that "actual" or 

"current" values may differ from the appraised values. (See App. F.) In contrast, as the complaint 

acknowledges, Barclays' due diligence provided information about the properties' value "at the 

time of securitization." (,r 282.) The government thus cannot rely on the results of Barclays' due 

diligence to establish that the appraisals were objectively false when made. 

Unlike the plaintiffs in many cases involving residential mortgage-backed securities, the 

government conducted no independent review of the mortgaged properties' value to assess the 

properties' value at origination. See, e.g., VNB Realty, Inc. v. Bank of America Corp., Civ. No. 

11-6805, 2013 WL 5179197, at *9  (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 16, 2013); Federal Housing Finance Agency 

v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., 902 F. Supp. 2d 476, 491 (S.D.N.Y. 2012); HSH Nordbank AG v. 

Barclays Bank PLC, 986 N.Y.S.2d 866 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2014) (unpublished table decision). The 

government is therefore unable to allege that even one appraisal was objectively false. 

Subjective falsity. - The government likewise fails to allege subjective falsity. The com-

23 An opinion can also be misleading if it omits facts necessary to avoid misleading an ordinary 
investor. See Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers District Council Construction Industry Pension Fund, 
135 S. Ct. 1318, 1329 (2015). The government does not plead such an omission. 
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plaint contains no allegations at all regarding the appraisers' subjective beliefs. Although the gov

ernment attempts to allege that Barclays knew the appraisals were false, it does not support its 

conclusory allegations with well-pleaded facts. In particular, the government does not allege that 

Barclays subjectively believed that its valuation due-diligence tools-the automated valuation 

models and broker price opinions-were more reliable than a full-blown appraisal, let alone that 

those tools disclosed anything about the appraisers' subjective beliefs. At least one court has rec

ognized that those tools have "limited utility" and are not a "[ s ]ubstitute for [ a]n [ a]ppraisal." US. 

Bank, NA. v. UBS Real Estate Securities Inc. , 205 F. Supp. 3d 386, 434-437 (S.D.N.Y. 2016). 

The complaint's allegations concerning supposed "underwater" loans are even more defi

cient. A loan is deemed "underwater" if its loan-to-value ratio exceeds 100%, so the difference 

between an "underwater" loan and an "above water" loan can depend on a difference of a percent

age point or two in the property's appraisal. The government does not allege that the appraisals 

for the loans at issue were determined by Barclays to be "out of tolerance" or otherwise unreliable, 

and it provides no basis for concluding that Barclays subjectively disbelieved the appraised values. 

(2) Materiality 

The government also fails sufficiently to allege that any misrepresentations concerning 

valuation and appraisals were material. The government attempts to establish materiality in Table 

9, which purports to report the total number of loans that Barclays' due-diligence process identified 

as having a "final variance" of over 15% (i. e. , the alleged "out-of-tolerance" loans) or a "final 

CLTV [ combined loan-to-value ratio]" of over 100% (i. e. , the alleged "underwater" loans). (Table 

9.) Even accepting the numbers in Table 9 at face value, however, the government has not suffi

ciently alleged materiality. Although the government alleges that the securitizations contained a 

limited number of "out of tolerance" loans, it does not allege that the inclusion of such loans ren

dered Barclays' pool-level statistics ( or statistics related to categories of pools) materially false for 
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any of the 36 securitizations. In fact, in 28 of the 36 securitizations, the government alleges that 

less than 5% of the loans were "out of tolerance." (App. A; see also Table 9.) Similarly, in 14 of 

the 36 securitizations, the government alleges that less than 5% of the loans were "underwater." 

(App. A; see also Table 9.)24 What is more, the government has not identified the extent to which 

any particular loan had a CL TV that was greater than 1 OOo/o--i. e., whether it was 100.1 % or some

thing greater. See United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124, 146 (2d Cir. 2003) (en bane) (explaining 

that the materiality requirement performs the function of a "de minimis" requirement). At a min

imum, therefore, the government fails to allege material misstatements as to those securitizations. 

c. Representations Concerning Barclays' Due-Diligence Practices 

The government's third theory is that Barclays falsely reported in presentations to uniden-

tified investors and rating agencies that its due-diligence process was "rigorous" and "comprehen-

sive." (, 297.) As courts uniformly have recognized, those sorts of "rosy but general portraits of 

due diligence" are mere puffery on which a reasonable investor would not rely. City of 

Austin Police Retirement System v. Kinross Gold Corp., 957 F. Supp. 2d 277, 297 (S.D.N.Y. 

2013); see, e.g., Lighthouse Financial Group v. Royal Bank of Scotland Group, PLC, 902 F. Supp. 

2d 329, 341-342 (S.D.N.Y. 2012), ajf'd sub nom. !BEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Trust Fund 

& Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland Group, PLC, 783 F.3d 388 (2d Cir. 2015). The com-

plaint also omits critical context for those representations. Barclays did not describe its due dili

gence as rigorous or comprehensive in general terms and leave it at that; instead, it specified ex

actly what that "rigorous" and "comprehensive" diligence entailed. Each presentation to (again, 

unidentified) investors and rating agencies detailed the scope of Barclays' due-diligence review, 

24 Notably, the alleged "out of tolerance" loans and "underwater" loans are less than 5% of the 
loans for each and every one of the Alt-A principal securitizations. (See App. A; Table 9.) 

47 

Case 1:16-cv-07057-KAM-JO   Document 80   Filed 10/10/17   Page 57 of 73 PageID #: 1677



so that the audience could make its own assessment of Barclays' due-diligence practices. (E.g. ,  

Ex. 3 (Barclays presentation regarding SABR 2006-HE2).) 

The government also alleges that Barclays misrepresented the "summar[y ]" of "due dili

gence results" in presentations to investors and rating agencies. (iii! 309-310.)25 The government 

does not allege that those summaries were inaccurate. Instead, echoing its argument about Bar

clays' representations concerning guidelines compliance, it charges that the summaries were "mis-

leading" because they did not include the total number of loans graded EV3 or the total number of 

loans that triggered Barclays' layered-risk factors. (,r,r 310, 312.) As explained above, however, 

the mere fact that a loan received an EV3 grade or triggered the layered-risk criteria did not mean 

that the loan did not comply with Barclays' representations. See pp. 7-8, supra. In addition, the 

government does not allege that any of that information was material. The government thus does 

not adequately allege that the representations in this category were materially false. 

d. Deal-Specific Representations 

Outside the three primary categories of representations discussed, the complaint contains 

scattershot allegations of false statements that apply only to certain securitizations. As Appendix 

A demonstrates, most of these miscellaneous allegations relate to the subprime principal deals. As 

for the Alt-A principal and third-party deals, which were handled by different business units at 

Barclays, the complaint's miscellaneous allegations are conspicuously sparse. For the reasons 

discussed below, they also are insufficient. 

25 The government alleges that Barclays made such representations in connection with each 
securitization. (ii 309.) Again, however, Table 6 identifies presentations made only for the sub
prime principal deals and two non-deal-specific "shelf presentations" for the Alt-A principal deals. 
It includes no presentations at all as to the third-party deals. 
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(1) Representations Concerning Alt-A Principal Deals 

With respect to the seven Alt-A principal deals, the government alleges that two Barclays 

presentations misrepresented that Barclays ( 1) "reviewed '100% of original appraisals' to assess 

whether the appraised values of the mortgaged properties were valid and reliable" (,r,r 129, 592; 

Table 6 at 11 ); (2) "conducted a credit/compliance due diligence review of a '10-25% selection of 

loan files' " (,r 591; Table 6 at 11); and (3) "did not securitize loans with appraisals that were more 

than . . . 10% 'out-of-tolerance. "' (,r,r 129, 593; Table 6 at 11.) 

The government does not allege any details about whether, when, or to whom those presen

tations were provided, and its claim thus flunks Rule 9(b ). One of the complaint's tables reveals 

that the presentations were dated in July and September 2007 (Table 6 at 11 }-after the offerings 

for all but one of the Alt-A principal securitizations. (,r,r 594, 598, 604, 611, 617, 623, 629.) The 

single remaining deal (BCAP 2007-AAS) is not even referenced in either presentation. The alleged 

presentations therefore cannot serve as a basis for any claims concerning the Alt-A principal deals. 

The government also alleges that, for each Alt-A principal deal, Barclays drew its due

diligence sample from the loans it initially received and did not apply its selection criteria to loans 

it received later in time. (,r,r 596, 601, 608, 613, 620, 626, 632.) Yet the government never alleges 

that Barclays made any misrepresentation with respect to its selection process. General critiques 

of Barclays' due-diligence practices cannot establish fraud without a corresponding false state

ment. See, e.g., United States v. Kreimer, 609 F.2d 126, 128 (5th Cir. 1980) (stating that the mail

fraud statute "does not reject all business practices that do not fulfill expectations"). 

Finally, with respect to one other Alt-A principal deal (BCAP 2007-AA2), the government 

alleges that Barclays misrepresented that all loans were "current" when it allegedly knew that nine 

loans were "delinquent." (ii 616.) But the actual representation in the prospectus supplement ref

erenced in the complaint was that no loan "will be 30 or more days [d]elinquent as of the cut-off 
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date [28 days prior to the closing date]." (Table 4 at 9.) The government does not allege that the 

nine loans were 30 or more days delinquent as of the cut-off date or, if they were, that the existence 

of nine delinquent loans in a pool could possibly be material. 26 The complaint as to the Alt-A 

principal deals should therefore be dismissed. 

(2) Representations Concerning Third-Party Deals 

The few miscellaneous allegations regarding the seven third-party deals are insufficient. 

First, the government alleges that, with respect to ALBT 2007-0Al, Barclays falsely rep

resented that it "conducted a due diligence 'review of 100% of original appraisals' and that 'each 

original appraisal is reviewed by experienced appraisers.' " (� 646.) The complaint includes no 

details about that representation, including when or to whom it was made. The representation does 

not appear in the prospectus supplements, purchase agreements, pooling and servicing agreements, 

or any of the presentations detailed in the appendices, and the complaint provides no additional 

information about it. The government's allegation therefore fails to satisfy Rule 9(b). 

Second, the government alleges that Barclays knowingly securitized "defective" loans in 

breach of its representations with respect to WFHET 2006-3 and RASC 2006-KS8-in the case 

of WFHET 2006-3, because it allegedly agreed to cap the kick-out rate. (�� 661-662, 666-670.) 

The government does not allege that those loans actually breached applicable guidelines, nor does 

it even explain what it means by a "defective" loan. The government also fails to allege the ele

ment of materiality: in WFHET 2006-3, according to the government's allegations, only 23 out 

26 The government makes similar allegations as to eight subprime principal securitizations: 
SABR 2006-NC2, SABR 2006-FR3, SABR 2006-FR4, SABR 2007-BRl, SABR 2007-BR2, 
SABR 2007-BR3, SABR 2007-BR4, and SABR 2007-BR5. (App. A.) All of those securitizations 
contain similar disclosures as to delinquent loans included in the deal, and for none of them does 
the complaint contain any allegation that those disclosures were false. 
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of 6,284 loans (or 0.3%) were allegedly "defective" (� 670), and the government does not even 

make a corresponding allegation with respect to RASC 2006-KS8. 

Third, the government alleges that Barclays conducted "only minimal diligence" on the 

pools securitized in ARSI 2005-W5 and ARSI 2006-W2, despite knowing of "serious problems" 

with the originator's processes. (�� 650-651.) The only cited evidence concerning Barclays' pur

ported knowledge is a conference call-occurring nine months before ARSI 2005-W5 and almost 

a year before ARSI 2006-W2--during which unidentified Barclays employees allegedly "dis

cuss[ ed] recent news reports that Ameriquest mortgage brokers were falsifying home appraisal 

values and instructing borrowers to lie about their income on stated income applications." (� 650.) 

The government does not allege that such purported knowledge, based on public news reports, 

rendered false any representations Barclays made 9 to 12 months later as to the particular loans in 

those deals. 

Fourth, the government alleges that for FHLT 2006-C and ARSI 2006-W2, Barclays se

curitized "recycled" loans. (�� 170-171, 527, 529, 657.) As discussed, that allegation does not 

establish that any of those loans failed to comply with underwriting guidelines. See p. 42, supra. 

The complaint, therefore, should also be dismissed as to the third-party deals. 

(3) Representations Concerning Subprime Principal Deals 

The remaining deal-specific allegations primarily concern the "Menefee/Carroll deals." As 

to those deals, Barclays incorporates the arguments in the separate briefs filed by Mr. Menefee and 

Mr. Carroll, which show that the representations at issue were not materially false. As to the other 

subprime principal deals, the government's more limited and scattershot allegations also fail to 
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demonstrate material falsity. 27 

* * * * * 

In short, the government does not adequately allege materially false statements with regard 

to any of the 36 securitizations at issue. That deficiency, like the similar deficiencies on the ele

ments of scheme and intent, warrants dismissal. 

III. THE CLAIMS BASED ON 18 U.S.C. §§ 1005 AND 1014 SHOULD BE DISMISSED 

In addition to mail, wire, and bank fraud, the government predicates its FIRREA claims on 

alleged violations of two other criminal statutes: 18 U.S.C. § 1005, which prohibits participating 

in fraudulent bank transactions; and 18 U.S.C. § 1014, which prohibits making certain false state

ments to banks. The government has not sufficiently alleged a violation of either statute. 

A. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege The Predicate Offense Of Partic
ipating In Fraudulent Bank Transactions 

Section 1005 protects covered financial institutions from insider misconduct. Specifically, 

it provides that an "officer, director, agent or employee" of such an institution may not engage in 

four types of wrongdoing: (1) issuing unauthorized notes; (2) issuing other types of unauthorized 

instruments; (3) making false entries in documents to deceive regulators; or (4) participating in a 

transaction by a financial institution with the intent to defraud that institution. 18 U.S.C. § 1005. 

Here, the government alleges that Barclays violated the last of those proscriptions by "executing a 

scheme to fraudulently benefit from a transaction with a financial institution." (,r,r 27, 751.) That 

allegation is insufficient for two reasons: Barclays is not a bank insider within the scope of the 

27 Attached as Appendix C is a chart identifying the miscellaneous allegations made with re
spect to these deals, along with the reasons why the allegations fail to allege adequately any mate
rially false statements. 
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statute, and the complaint's allegations do not satisfy Rule 9(b). 

Each of Section 1005's four substantive proscriptions purports to apply to "[w]hoever" 

commits the relevant conduct. But the statute's opening clause contains a crucial limitation: the 

"[w]hoever" must "be[] an officer, director, agent or employee" of a bank. 18 U.S.C. § 1005. 

Congress clearly envisioned that limitation would carry through the following clauses. The first, 

second, and third clauses were originally contained in a single paragraph restricted to "any [bank] 

officer, director, agent, or employee." United States v. Rubin/Chambers, Dunhill Insurance Ser

vices, 798 F. Supp. 2d 517, 525 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (brackets and internal quotation marks omitted). 

When Congress revised the criminal code in 1948 and divided the paragraph into multiple clauses, 

it explained that "no changes of meaning or substance were made." 18 U.S.C. § 1005 notes. Ac

cordingly, courts generally have held that the second and third clauses are limited to bank insiders. 

See United States v. Barel, 939 F.2d 26, 39 (3d Cir. 1991); United States v. Ortiz, 906 F. Supp. 

140, 144-146 & n.2 (E.D.N.Y. 1995), aff'd, 112 F.3d 506 (2d Cir. 1997); United States v. Edwards, 

566 F. Supp. 1219, 1222 (D. Conn. 1983). 

As the Southern District of New York held in Rubin/Chambers, logic dictates the same 

conclusion for the fourth clause, which was added in 1989 as part of FIRREA. There is no evi

dence in Section 1005's text or history that Congress meant the term "[w]hoever" to carry a dif

ferent meaning in the fourth clause than in the first three; at a minimum, the rule of lenity, which 

applies to a civil claim predicated on a criminal statute, compels a consistent reading. See Crandon 

v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 158 (1990); Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 427 (1985). 

To the extent that courts have reached a contrary result, see Wells Fargo Bank, NA. , 972 F. Supp. 

2d at 627; United States v. Van Bracklin, 115 F.3d 587, 597 (8th Cir. 1997), those decisions are 

inconsistent with the foregoing reasoning and should not be followed. 
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In any event, the complaint's allegations concerning Section 1005 do not satisfy Rule 9(b). 

Section 1005 requires that the relevant person, "with intent to defraud . . . any financial insti

tution referred to in this section, participate[] or share[] in or receive[] (directly or indirectly) any 

money, profit, property, or benefits through any transaction, loan, commission, contract, or any 

other act of any such financial institution." 18 U.S.C. § 1005. The relevant count of the complaint 

largely parrots that language, alleging a violation of Section 1005 "[i]n connection with each [ se

curitization]." (, 751.) But the complaint does not specify which "financial institution" was in-

volved, or what the "transaction, loan, commission, contract, or any other act" was, for each secu-

ritization. Once again, the Court and defendants are left to guess the "who, what, when, where, 

and how" of the supposed frauds. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp. v. US. Mortgage Corp. , 132 

F. Supp. 3d 369, 383 (E.D.N.Y. 2015) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Nor does 

the government allege facts showing the requisite intent to defraud, for the same reasons it does 

not allege such intent with respect to the other predicate offenses. See pp. 30-34, supra. 

B. The Complaint Does Not Adequately Allege The Predicate Offense Of Making 
False Statements To Banks 

Section 1014 proscribes making a false statement to a covered financial institution in con-

nection with loan or credit transactions. The government's primary theory is that Barclays violated 

that statute by making false representations to one or more financial institutions in connection with 

their purchase of RMBS certificates. (, 756.)28 This claim fails for two reasons. 

28 The government also includes an alternative theory that Barclays violated Section 1014 by 
making false statements for the purpose of influencing "the loan of funds by the covered institution 
to RMBS trusts for the [securitizations] in exchange for RMBS Certificates." (, 756.) The com
plaint, however, contains no factual allegations to support that theory. It does not allege that any 
such loans were made. 
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First, Section 1014 does not punish all false statements to banks, regardless of their con

text. It is "limit[ ed]" to statements made to influence "specified credit" decisions. United States 

v. Krown, 675 F.2d 46, 50 (2d Cir. 1982); see also Williams v. United States, 458 U.S. 279, 288-

289 (1982) (noting that Section 1014 is restricted to statements "in connection with conventional 

loan or related transactions").29 Section 1014 thus does not extend to situations such as this one, 

in which a covered institution invests, rather than lends, money. In Krown, the Second Circuit 

held that the "broad terms" listed in Section 1014-"application," "advance," "purchase," "loan," 

"insurance agreement"-"must be interpreted with reference to the statute as a whole, and can 

only refer to an [action] involving an advance or loan or other credit transaction listed in the stat

ute." 675 F.2d at 51. The word "purchase" thus cannot be stretched to reach a covered institution's 

investment activities. 

Second, even if Section 1014 applied to statements made in connection with a bank's in

vestment activities, the complaint again flunks Rule 9(b ). Section 1014 requires a plaintiff to plead 

with particularity that "the defendant [knowingly] made false statements to [ a covered] institution" 

and "the statements were made for the purpose of influencing the institution" with respect to one 

of the actions enumerated in the statute. United States v. Chacko, 169 F.3d 140, 147 (2d Cir. 1999) 

(emphasis added) (footnote omitted). The complaint does not adequately allege that Barclays 

knowingly made any particular false statement to a financial institution or that the statement was 

made for the purpose of influencing that institution with respect to a particular action. 

29 See also United States v. Devoll, 39 F.3d 575, 578-579 (5th Cir. 1994) (holding that "section 
1014 relates only to lending activities by financial institutions"); United States v. Chacko, 169 
F .3d 140, 14 7 (2d Cir. 1999) (reciting the elements of a Section 1014 violation and requiring a 
statement "made for the purpose of influencing the institution to make a loan or advance"); United 
States v. Zahavi, Crim. No. 12-288, 2012 WL 5288743, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 26, 2012) (explaining 
that Section 1014 applies only to "statutorily specified credit actions"). 
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IV. THE CLAIMS AGAINST CERTAIN BARCLAYS DEFENDANTS SHOULD BE 
DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO PLEAD ANY FACTS CONCERNING THEM OR 
FAILURE TO ESTABLISH PERSONAL JURISDICTION 

A. Barclays Group US Inc., Barclays US LLC, And Barclays PLC Are Not Proper 
Defendants 

Barclays' original motion to dismiss demonstrated that all claims against Barclays Group 

US Inc., Barclays US LLC, and Barclays PLC should be dismissed because the government failed 

to plead any allegations against them. Recognizing this fatal flaw in its original complaint, the 

government includes in its amended complaint conclusory new allegations that Barclays Group 

US Inc., Barclays US LLC, and Barclays PLC are each related to Barclays Capital (which under

wrote the at-issue securitizations c, 29)) as (1) successors-in-interest, (2) holding companies, in 

the case of Barclays Group US Inc. and Barclays US LLC, and (3) the agent and "alter ego," in 

the case of Barclays PLC c,, 30-31, 33). None of these allegations comes close to meeting the 

government's pleading burden. 

First, the government's contention, "on information and belief," that Barclays Group US 

Inc., Barclays US LLC, and Barclays PLC are the successors-in-interest of Barclays Capital is 

legally insufficient. The assertion that one corporation is a successor-in-interest to another "is not 

a factual conclusion, but rather a legal conclusion." Kessenich v. Raynor, 120 F. Supp. 2d 242, 

255 (E.D.N.Y. 2000). Successor liability attaches only when a de jure merger has occurred be

tween two entities or when "(1) the successor corporation either expressly or impliedly agrees to 

assume the predecessor's liabilities; (2) the transaction is a de facto merger; (3) the successor may 

be considered a mere continuation of the predecessor; or ( 4) the transaction is fraudulent. " Id. ; see 

also Connecticut Indemnity Co. v. 21st Century Transport Co., Civ. No. 99-7735, 2001 WL 

868340, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. July 27, 2001). To make a plausible showing of successor liability at the 

motion-to-dismiss stage, a plaintiff must plead specific facts to show how this standard is satisfied. 
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See Leon v. Shmukler, 992 F. Supp. 2d 179, 191 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (concluding that plaintiffs "bare 

factual allegations" of successor liability were "completely undeveloped" and thus insufficient). 

In the amended complaint, the government alleges no facts to support its conclusory state

ments that Barclays Group US Inc. and Barclays US LLC are successors-in-interest to Barclays 

Capital. (,r,r 30, 31.) As a result, the claim of successor liability as to those two entities must be 

dismissed. As to Barclays PLC, the government alleges only that "according to Barclays' website, 

[Barclays PLC] is in the midst of a corporate restructuring, as a result of which the functions, 

assets, operations, and liabilities of Barclays Capital either have already been, or are on the verge 

of being, merged into an operating division of [Barclays PLC]." (,r 33.) As a preliminary matter, 

Barclays' website does not appear to make any such assertion. And even if it did, the government 

does not allege that a certificate of merger has been filed to effectuate a de Jure merger, see Con

necticut Indemnity Co., 2001 WL 868340, at *5, nor does it identify "any evidence of continuity 

of ownership," which is required for the de facto merger exception to apply, New York v. National 

Service Industries, Inc., 460 F.3d 201, 215 (2d Cir. 2006); accord Perkins v. Sunbelt Rentals, Inc., 

Civ. No. 14-1378, 2015 WL 12748009, at *6-7 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 13, 2015). The government pleads 

no facts to suggest that any of the other successor-liability theories applies either. 

Second, the complaint cannot establish liability for Barclays Group US Inc., Barclays US 

LLC, or Barclays PLC based on their parent-subsidiary relationship. "[A] corporate relationship 

alone is not sufficient to bind a parent corporation for the actions of its subsidiary." Atkins v. 

Apollo Real Estate Advisors, L.P., Civ. No. 05-4365, 2008 WL 1926684, at *9  (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 30, 

2008) ( citation omitted). "In order to state a plausible claim that a parent company may be held 

directly liable for the acts of its subsidiary, a plaintiff must allege facts supporting an inference 

that the parent company engaged in the conduct at issue, and general, conclusory allegations are 
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not sufficient." Stoltz v. Fage Dairy Processing Industry, S.A. , Civ. No. 14-3826, 2015 WL 

5579872, at *29 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 22, 2015); see also McAnaney v. Astoria Financial Corp., 665 

F. Supp. 2d 132, 143-144 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (dismissing holding company defendants because of 

the lack of evidence indicating their direct involvement and explaining that "simply demon

strat[ing] that the bank holding company defendants had controlling interests in the subsidiary 

defendants [is] insufficient, standing alone, to pierce the corporate veil" (footnote omitted)). 

The amended complaint still contains no allegations about Barclays US LLC and Barclays 

Group US Inc. beyond the conclusory assertion that they are holding companies for Barclays Cap

ital. (,r,r 30, 31.) With respect to Barclays PLC, the government now alleges that Barclays Capital 

is its agent and alter ego. (,r 33.) But to hold a parent corporation liable for its subsidiary's actions 

under such a theory, a plaintiff must plead "( 1) that the parent exercised such complete domination 

'in respect to the transaction attacked' that the subsidiary had 'at the time' no separate will of its 

own, and (2) that this domination was used to 'commit fraud or wrong.' " Zinaman v. USTS New 

York, Inc., 798 F. Supp. 128, 132 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (citations omitted). "Conclusory allegations on 

one or both of these points are insufficient; a complaint must plead 'specific facts or circumstances' 

supporting them." Taizhou Zhongneng Import & Export Co. v. Koutsobinas, 509 Fed. Appx. 54, 

57 (2d Cir. 2013) (citation omitted). 

In the amended complaint, the government does not plead sufficient facts to establish such 

liability. It contends only that Barclays PLC "acted directly and through its agent and alter ego, 

Barclays Capital, with respect to the conduct of Barclays Capital giving rise to the claims alleged 

in this Complaint," as "[o]n information and belief, one or more of [Barclays PLC's] employees 

or committees was involved" in certain oversight functions of its RMBS business, including the 
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approval and authorization of certain lines of credit, the acquisition of EquiFirst Mortgage Corpo

ration, and other unspecified involvement with the securitizations. (� 33.) Those conclusory alle

gations fall well short of establishing that Barclays PLC exercised "complete domination" over 

Barclays Capital, much less that it used these oversight actions to commit a wrongful act. See 

Taizhou Zhongneng Import & Export Co., 509 Fed. Appx. at 57 (holding that a complaint failed 

to state a claim against a parent company when it made "no specific factual allegations" that the 

subsidiary "was so dominated by [the parent] that it has no separate identity" or that "this corporate 

domination was used to commit fraud or wrong"). Given that the government conducted a two

year investigation before bringing this case, there is no justification for this pleading insufficiency. 

B. Barclays PLC Is Not Subject To Personal Jurisdiction In The United States 

The claims against Barclays PLC should be dismissed on the independent ground that the 

government has not shown that this Court has general or specific personal jurisdiction over it. 

General jurisdiction exists over a foreign corporation "only when the corporation's affilia

tions with the State in which suit is brought are so constant and pervasive 'as to render [it] essen

tially at home in the forum State."' Daimler AG v. Bauman, 134 S. Ct. 746, 751 (2014) (alteration 

in original) (citation omitted). "Aside from 'an exceptional case,' . . . a corporation is at home 

(and thus subject to general jurisdiction, consistent with due process) only in a state that is the 

company's formal place of incorporation or its principal place of business." Gucci America, Inc. 

v. Weixing Li, 768 F.3d 122, 135 (2d Cir. 2014) (quoting Daimler, 134 S. Ct. at 761 n.19). Barclays 

PLC is incorporated in the United Kingdom and has its principal place of business in London, 

England. (Deel. of Marie Smith, dated Apr. 21, 2017.) At least one court has previously found, 

"without hesitation," that no general jurisdiction existed over another Barclays entity based on this 

same set of facts. In re LIBOR-Based Financial Instruments Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 11-
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2262, 2015 WL 6243526, at *27 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 20, 2015). The government's barebones allega

tion that Barclays PLC operates in the United States, is "transatlantic," and is headquartered in 

both London and New York (�� 33, 42) cannot overcome these facts. See Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 

559 U.S. 77, 93 (2010) (holding that "principal place of business" is "singular, not . . . plural" 

and can only be one location); Giordano v. UBS, AG, 134 F. Supp. 3d 697, 706-707 (S.D.N.Y. 

2015) (holding that a bank holding company was not subject to general jurisdiction in New York, 

even though bank maintained branches in New York and had corporate affiliates in New York). 

The government also fails to allege facts supporting the existence of specific jurisdiction 

over Barclays PLC. Specific jurisdiction exists when the claims "arise out of or relate to" the 

defendant's contacts with the forum. Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 472 (1985) 

(citation omitted). The contacts must be ones that "the 'defendant himself creates with the forum 

State." Walden v. Fiore, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 1122 (2014) (quoting Burger King Corp., 471 U.S. at 

475)). In other words, the defendant must have taken " 'intentional, and allegedly tortious, actions 

. . .  expressly aimed' at the forum." In re Terrorist Attacks on September 11, 2001, 714 F.3d 

659, 674 (2d Cir. 2013) (alteration omitted) (quoting Calder v. Jones, 465 U.S. 783, 789 (1984)). 

The few allegations in the amended complaint concerning Barclays PLC's contacts with 

New York-all made "on information and belief'-do not come close to establishing specific 

jurisdiction. First, when a plaintiff has already had the benefit of extensive discovery, as here, 

"[ c ]onclusory allegations based only on information and belief are not sufficient" to establish per

sonal jurisdiction. Gallelli v. Crown Imports, LLC, 701 F. Supp. 2d 263, 270 (E.D.N.Y. 2010). 

Second, although the government alleges that one or more unspecified employees or committees 

of Barclays PLC engaged in oversight of certain aspects of Barclays Capital's business (� 33), it 

conspicuously does not allege that Barclays PLC approved or was in any way involved in any 

60 

Case 1:16-cv-07057-KAM-JO   Document 80   Filed 10/10/17   Page 70 of 73 PageID #: 1690



misrepresentations or other wrongdoing in connection with the claims in this case. The govern

ment does not allege that Barclays PLC aimed any tortious or wrongful conduct at New York. It 

has therefore failed to establish that Barclays PLC is subject to specific jurisdiction in New York. 

See Alki Partners, L.P. v. Vatas Holding GmbH, 769 F. Supp. 2d 478, 490-491 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) 

(finding no basis for exercising personal jurisdiction over foreign defendants when the complaint's 

conclusory allegations that they "exerted control" over the wrongdoer were "not based on factual 

allegations of conduct . . . in furtherance of the scheme" ( emphasis added)), a.ff' d, 4 72 Fed. 

Appx. 7 (2d Cir. 2012). 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons. the Barclays defendants' motion to dismiss the amended com-

plaint should be granted. 
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